

Federal Highway Administration

Federal Transit Administration

TRANSPORTATION PLANNING CERTIFICATION REVIEW

OF THE

METROPOLITAN PLANNING PROCESS FOR THE BOSTON TRANSPORTATION MANAGEMENT AREA

BOSTON REGION METROPOLITAN PLANNING ORGANIZATION

Final Report - May 2015

Prepared by:

Federal Highway Administration – Massachusetts Division **Federal Transit Administration** – Region 1



U.S. Department of Transportation Federal Transit Administration Region I 55 Broadway Suite 920 617-494-2055

Federal Highway Administration MA Division 55 Broadway 10th Floor Cambridge, MA 02142-1093 Cambridge, MA 02142-1093 617-494-3657

Stephanie Pollack Secretary and Chief Executive Officer Massachusetts Department of Transportation 10 Park Plaza, Suite 3170 Boston, MA 02116

June 16, 2015

Subject: Boston Region MPO Planning Certification Review Final Report

Dear Secretary Pollack:

The Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) and the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) are pleased to submit the final Planning Certification Review Report of the Boston Region Metropolitan Planning Organization.

This report provides a series of recommendations resulting from the site visit, desk review, and public meeting. The FHWA and the FTA have determined that the transportation planning process substantially meets the requirements of 23 CFR Part 450 Subpart C and 49 CFR Part 613. The FHWA and the FTA are therefore jointly certifying the transportation planning process.

The FHWA and the FTA would like to thank the Central Transportation Planning Staff (CTPS) for their cooperative participation and will continue to work with them in the coming months to implement the recommendations of this report. If you have any questions or comments, please contact Nicolas Garcia at (617-494-3940) or Michael Chong at (617-494-3275).

Sincerely,

Mary Beth Mello

Regional Administrator

Federal Transit Administration

Pamela S. Stephenson **Division Administrator**

Federal Highway Administration

cc:

David Mohler, MassDOT Frank DePaola, MBTA Thomas Tinlin, MassDOT Trey Wadsworth, MassDOT Karl Quackenbush, CTPS

Ed Carr, MWRTA Paul Talbot, CATA

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	1
Federal Transportation Law	1
Transportation Planning in the Boston Region	1
The Certification Review Process	1
The 2015 Boston Region MPO Certification Review	2
Organization of this Report	2
Summary of Review Findings	3
Recommendations	3
Commendations	7
Key Metropolitan Planning Documents and Processes	8
Unified Planning Work Program	8
Metropolitan Transportation Plan	9
Transportation Improvement Program and Project Selection Process	10
Financial Planning	12
List of Obligated Projects	13
Self-Certifications	14
Congestion Management Process	15
Air Quality	16
Coordinated, Cooperative, and Comprehensive Planning ProcessProcess	18
Consultation and the 3C Planning Process	18
MPO Organizational Structure	19
Inter-Agency Agreements and Consultation	20
Intermodal Transportation Coordination	22
Public Outreach and Public Involvement	23
Title VI Notice and Complaint Procedures	25
Title VI and Nondiscrimination Data Collection and Analysis	26
Title VI and Nondiscrimination Outreach and Access	28
Limited English Proficiency (LEP)	31
Planning Focus Areas	
Environmental Mitigation	32
Livability and Sustainability	33
Performance-Based Planning & Programming	34

Management and Operations Considerations	36
Freight Planning	37
Safety	38
Appendices	40
Appendix A: Certification Review Agenda	41
Appendix B: List of Attendees	44
Appendix C: Public Comments	47
Appendix D: Federal Review Team	68
Appendix E: MPO Planning Documents & Agreements	69

Introduction

This document describes the review and findings of the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) and Federal Transit Administration (FTA) planning certification review of the transportation planning process in the Boston region, as conducted by the Boston Region Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO).

FEDERAL TRANSPORTATION LAW

The Boston Region MPO is required by federal law to conduct the metropolitan transportation planning process according to the requirements of the Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century Act (MAP-21), signed into law on July 6, 2012. The United States Department of Transportation (U.S. DOT) is currently in the process of writing the Statewide and Metropolitan Planning Final Rule, which will set federal requirements for the transportation planning process. These requirements will update those currently found in 23 CFR Part 450, the metropolitan planning regulations, and will continue to be closely tied with the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 through the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's (EPA) Air Quality Conformity Regulations.

TRANSPORTATION PLANNING IN THE BOSTON REGION

The Boston Region MPO was originally designated in 1973, and is largest of eleven MPOs that serve the Boston, MA-NH-RI urbanized area. The Central Transportation Planning Staff (CTPS) provides staff support to the MPO. The Boston Region MPO covers 101 cities and towns and approximately 1,400 square miles in the Boston urbanized area, representing more than 3 million residents. Its policy board currently has 22 members and is chaired by the Secretary of the Massachusetts Department of Transportation (MassDOT). The first certification review and evaluation of the MPO's metropolitan transportation planning process was conducted in October 1995.

THE CERTIFICATION REVIEW PROCESS

Federal regulation requires that the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) and the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) jointly review and evaluate the transportation planning process conducted in each Transportation Management Area (TMA), defined as an urbanized area with a population over 200,000. This "Certification Review" must be conducted at least once every four years. Certification reviews generally consist of four components: a "desk review" of MPO planning products and documents, a site visit and meeting with the MPO (including a public meeting), a final report by the Federal Review Team that summarizes the review and offers findings, and a letter transmitting the report and announcing the findings of the review.

Subjects of focus for a certification review include compliance with federal laws and regulations; the challenges and successes of the planning process; and the cooperative relationship between the MPO, the public, and other transportation planning stakeholders. The certification review process is only one of several methods used to assess the quality of the metropolitan planning process and compliance with applicable statutes and regulations. Other opportunities for review include

routine oversight activities such as attendance at meetings, day-to-day interactions, review and approval of work products, and coordination with the MPO on prior certification review recommendations.

Upon completion of the review and evaluation, FHWA and FTA must either:

- 1. Certify that the transportation planning process meets the requirements of 23 United States Code (U.S.C.) 134, 49 U.S.C. 5303, and other associated Federal laws;
- 2. Certify that the transportation planning process substantially meets Federal requirements with conditions tied to resolution of specific corrective actions;
- 3. Certify the transportation planning process with conditions and additional project and program restrictions, or;
- 4. Not certify the planning process and withhold funds if the process does not meet Federal requirements.

THE 2015 BOSTON REGION MPO CERTIFICATION REVIEW

The Review Team sent a detailed questionnaire and request for documentation to the MPO in October of 2014. In November, MPO staff responded to this request with a professional, comprehensive, and well-organized report.

The on-site portion of this review of the MPO was conducted on December 10 and 11, 2014. MPO staff and board members participated in an active and wide-ranging discussion with the Review Team. Staff responded to questions about the planning process in a spirit of good faith and cooperation, and were receptive to recommendations and new ideas. The MPO and the Review Team collaborated to host a public meeting on January 15, 2015, at which members of the public and staff discussed the planning process of the MPO.

The Federal Review Team would like to commend the MPO staff for their positive attitude and exemplary professionalism in working with the Review Team to conduct this review. It is clear that the MPO is a high-performing organization that will continue to improve its administration of the transportation planning process in the years to come.

ORGANIZATION OF THIS REPORT

This certification review report is organized around key transportation planning topic areas. Each report section presents the legal and regulatory basis for the review topic area, summarizes the observations of the Review Team, and lists the Team's major findings. Findings may include commendations, recommendations, or corrective actions. Commendations describe processes and products that are considered notable and identified as best practices. Recommendations identify practices that should be implemented to improve processes and planning products that already meet minimum Federal requirements. Corrective actions describe items that do not meet the requirements of the transportation statute and regulations—along with the actions that must be taken to attain compliance. Failure to address a corrective action may result in a more restrictive future certification and potential restriction or withholding of Federal funds.

SUMMARY OF REVIEW FINDINGS

RECOMMENDATIONS

Unified Planning Work Program

Recommendation: The MPO should explore opportunities to expand its outreach to communities who may not have benefited from a significant planning activity, such as a safety, corridor, or congestion management study. It should make a special effort to engage communities that appear to have not benefitted from the planning program, and see if they have any technical needs related to safety, congestion, livability, or any other activity that the MPO can address through their work.

TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM AND PROJECT SELECTION PROCESS

Recommendation: The MPO should refine its TIP project selection and prioritization process, in consideration of the following:

- Developing a clear, mode-neutral process by which flexible funding programs such as CMAQ and STP may be allocated to both transit and highway projects.
- Expanding the definition of "Environmental Justice Area" beyond a simple threshold to one that reflects a range of low-income and minority population levels.
- Adding an additional criterion or criteria related to transportation infrastructure resiliency, alignment with hazard mitigation plans, and/or climate change adaptation.

Recommendation: The MPO should make a special effort to engage communities that appear to have not benefitted from the MPO Target Program, statewide road and bridge program, earmarks, or discretionary awards. There may be institutional barriers that prevent communities for accessing federal funding, and the staff should develop a strategy to assist those communities to develop eligible projects.

Recommendation: In order to improve transparency and public accessibility of the programming process, the MPO should include a general funding analysis as part of the introductory text of the TIP document. This analysis would present a basic overview of the projects proposed in the TIP, including summaries of data about project and/or funding allocation by mode, geographical area, and socioeconomic and demographic equity.

LIST OF OBLIGATED PROJECTS

Recommendation: The MPO shall demonstrate a better link between the TIP and the list of obligated projects. The MPO shall publish a list of all projects funded with federal funds, including public transit projects, and this published list should be consistent with the format of the TIP. The MPO should also work cooperatively with responsible parties to develop the list to meet requirements of 23 CFR 450.314.

AIR QUALITY

Recommendation: The Review Team recommends updating the current MOU between the MPOs, MassDOT, the Department of Environmental Protection (DEP), and providers of public transportation, with the intent to recognize the reorganization of the various transportation agencies under the MassDOT umbrella. This agreement was signed in 1996 and there is a need to develop a new MOU that will recognize the roles of all agencies including MassDOT.

Recommendation: The Review Team recommends that the MPO consider utilizing the UPWP process to engage in a study to determine how the development of the SIP and the progress and advancement of SIP commitment projects has affected regional air quality. Possible contents could include an investigation into how the tool has been used in the past, how it has or could potentially be used to implement regional projects and priorities, and the prospect of exporting it to other regions, including areas that are in air quality attainment.

MPO ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

Recommendation: The MPO should work with the MetroWest and Cape Ann Regional Transit Authorities to ensure that these providers of public transportation are represented on the MPO board in a way that is satisfactory to all parties and satisfies the MAP-21 requirement for transit representation on MPO boards. The particular form of this representation should be determined cooperatively by the interested parties. Possible examples include: full or fractional representation on the board for each RTA; a single seat that rotates between the RTAs; a transit or intermodal "functional sub-region" representative similar to the geographical sub-region representatives already on the board; indirect representation through another MPO board member (e.g. MBTA or MassDOT) supplemented by voting membership for both RTAs on the Regional Transportation Advisory Council (RTAC); or some other form of representation agreed upon by all parties.

INTER-AGENCY AGREEMENTS AND CONSULTATION

Recommendation: The MPO should update its regional inter-agency MOU to include all MPOs in the Boston UZA, as defined by the 2010 U.S. Census.

Recommendation: In fulfillment of U.S. DOT Secretary Foxx's *Models of Regional Planning Cooperation* Planning Emphasis Area, the MPO should work with its partner MPOs in the Boston urbanized area (starting with the Northern Middlesex MPO, Merrimack Valley MPO, and Old Colony MPO, which are the MPOs with the largest geographical portions of the Boston UZA) to better align regional transportation planning documents, such as the Metropolitan Transportation Plan (MTP), Unified Planning Work Program (UPWP), or Transportation Improvement Program (TIP). Best practices include explicitly referencing the planning documents and processes of neighboring MPOs; including each MPO's planning document as a section in a combined region-wide planning document; or collaborating with neighboring MPOs to create integrated regional planning documents. These practices can help promote a more coordinated planning process, particularly for projects and corridors that cross MPO boundaries.

Intermodal Transportation Coordination

Recommendation: The MPO should clearly present basic information about the modal breakdown of funds and projects programmed in the TIP and planned in the MTP. This information should be presented in a clear and attractive format as part of the TIP and MTP documents, so that members of the public and agency stakeholders can easily gain a broad understanding of the region's transportation priorities.

Public Outreach and Public Involvement

Recommendation: The MPO should develop a procedure to ensure individuals and entities that are added to an email list all receive an introductory message with an explanation of the MPO and its processes and what they can expect to receive as part of the email list, etc. (as also discussed in the Title VI and Nondiscrimination Outreach and Access section of this report). Additionally, the Review Team recommends the MPO staff explore ways to reduce duplicative emails (e.g. individuals receiving the same information multiple times from the MPO because they are members of multiple email lists) while still ensuring full dissemination of information.

Recommendation: Regarding the disposition of public comments in its process, the MPO should consider the types of oral responses that warrant written responses. In addition, it should track the disposition of these responses and share them publicly in the same manner as written comments. The MPO should also pursue proactive methods to engage area citizen representation in all planning efforts including corridor and subarea planning studies and similar activities, for example through inclusion of residents in study advisory groups and so forth.

TITLE VI NOTICE AND COMPLAINT PROCEDURES

Recommendation: The MPO should continue to work with MassDOT's Title VI Specialist to revise its complaint procedure and form. Once complete, these documents should be translated into Spanish, Chinese, Portuguese, and any other languages indicated by the MPO's Language Access Plan, and posted to the MPO's web site. The MPO should plan any staff trainings that may be required to support the rollout of the updated complaint procedures. It is also recommended that this item be reviewed by an appropriate subcommittee of the proposed (MassDOT/FHWA/MPO) Title VI Working Group before it is adopted.

TITLE VI AND NONDISCRIMINATION DATA COLLECTION AND ANALYSIS

Recommendation: The MPO should expand its data collection and analysis to encompass both environmental justice and Title VI/Nondiscrimination Program requirements. This data should include all protected persons based on race, color, national origin/LEP, age, gender, disability, and low-income. In addition, the MPO should establish definitions to identify populations in each of these categories that are meaningfully greater or above average, and no segment of the population should be excluded.

Recommendation: The MPO should collect and analyze data consistent with the protections under Title VI, the nondiscrimination statutes, and relevant executive orders. In its analysis, the MPO should consider the impacts to these populations in terms of access and equity with respect to each

element of the program. Further, the MPO should develop a definition or metric for identifying each type of Title VI/nondiscrimination population where there is a concentration (above average) of people protected under the statutes and relevant executive orders, i.e. household incomes less than \$42,497, persons less than 18 years old, persons 65 or older, one of the five federally-recognized minority categories, etc.

Recommendation: The MPO should articulate the method and establish metrics to define its Title VI/ nondiscrimination populations. In addition, these populations, including what the MPO defines as "areas of concern" should be inclusive of the entire demographic, whether containing group living quarters or transient communities. The MPO should also develop a mechanism for evaluating these metrics to determine their accuracy and when adjustments are appropriate. For example, the MPO has currently defined a low-income individual as one who is living in a household where the income is 60% of the median household income in the planning region. The Massachusetts poverty guidelines on which this percentage was based apply only to a 4-person household. This should be clarified in the MPO's definition, and the MPO should review its household data obtained through the Census Bureau to make sure it is consistent with this definition.

Recommendation: The MPO is strongly encouraged to develop a methodology for determining transportation impacts to Title VI/nondiscrimination populations. Specifically, a method for determining benefits and burdens and program distribution should be established. It is further recommended that the MPO adopt the relevant metrics found in MassDOT's Phase II Analysis entitled, "Analysis of Federal Aid Highway Program Project Distribution and Title VI Populations in Massachusetts." Given these metrics, the MPO should periodically conduct equity analyses. To advance this work, we further recommend that this item be reviewed by an appropriate subcommittee of the proposed (MassDOT/FHWA/MPO) Title VI Working Group before it is adopted.

TITLE VI AND NONDISCRIMINATION OUTREACH AND ACCESS

Recommendation: With respect to the MPO's outreach and communication to organizations serving Title VI/nondiscrimination populations, the MPO should verify that its contacts on the Equity List are viable and sufficient to serve as conduits to the Title VI/nondiscrimination populations in the region. This list should include all known native American-serving organizations in the region, including those bordering the region. A system to consistently provide information and encourage participation through these groups should be established. This system should include both electronic and written communication for new and existing organizations. Where the MPO uses discretion in the type of information it releases, this should be done consistently for all organizations. In a continuing effort to encourage participation of the traditionally underserved, the MPO should introduce new contacts to the benefits/goals/objectives of outreach and advise existing contacts (Title VI/nondiscrimination organizations) periodically on how to "opt-in" for additional communications. In order to keep the contact data up-to-date in MassDOT's online outreach tool, the MPO should regularly update its outreach database and share this information with MassDOT.

Recommendation: With regard the composition of the Advisory Council, the MPO should carry out a targeted outreach effort that seeks representation from Title VI/nondiscrimination populations. We believe an effort that entails collaboration with key organizations that serve Title VI/nondiscrimination populations would most likely produce results.

Recommendation: For projects advanced by municipalities, the MPO should provide training and establish criteria and a process that ensures project proponents are meeting their fundamental obligations under Title VI. This process will further support the self-certifications made by the MPO in accordance with 23 CFR 450.334. The MPO is encouraged to seek assistance from the MassDOT Office of Civil Rights to identify an approach. To advance this work, we further recommend that this item be reviewed examined by an appropriate subcommittee of the proposed joint (MassDOT/FHWA/ MPO) Title VI Civil Rights Working Group before it is adopted.

LIMITED ENGLISH PROFICIENCY (LEP)

Recommendation: The MPO should revisit its Four-factor analysis to determine whether or not sufficient evidence exists that provides a reasonable basis for translating vital documents into only the top three Non-English Safe Harbor Languages. Based on this review, the MPO should either revise its analysis or expand its translation of vital documents, as needed. If the MPO believes it has sufficient evidence to support translations into only the top three Safe Harbor languages, this evidence should be documented.

Recommendation: The MPO should examine the contacts in its Transportation Equity Outreach Database to ensure adequate representation of organizations serving the other 21 Non-English Safe Harbor Language groups. This analysis will support further outreach and increase the frequency of contact with these groups. Consequently, the resulting level of contact will help determine the extent to which document translations in the remaining 21 LEP languages should be made available. To advance this work, it is recommended that this item be reviewed by an appropriate subcommittee of the proposed (MassDOT/FHWA/MPO) Title VI Working Group before it is adopted.

MANAGEMENT AND OPERATIONS CONSIDERATIONS

Recommendation: Financial planning for management and operations should be presented in the TIP. An analysis depicting the shortfall of revenue to properly operate and maintain the highway system should be completed for the highways portion of the MTP.

COMMENDATIONS

Intermodal Transportation Coordination

Commendation: The Ferry Compact is a well-conceived and timely initiative that provides a much-needed space for system-wide ferry transportation planning and visioning. As the Compact's work progresses, we encourage the MPO, MassDOT, and the MBTA to work together to ensure that the Ferry Compact visioning effort focuses on ways to better integrate ferry service with the region's public transit network.

TITLE VI AND NONDISCRIMINATION OUTREACH AND ACCESS

Commendation: The MPO has recently improved its procedures in the area of physical and communications access to public forums. In addition to establishing separate line-items in the UPWP budget for Title VI/LEP and ADA related activities, the MPO has developed procedures within its handbook to ensure meeting locations are accessible and that auxiliary aids and services are readily available or obtained by request with reasonable notice.

SAFETY

Commendation: The MPO is commended for its ongoing support of safety as demonstrated through the region's goals and project prioritization process. The MPO conducts studies to identify and address safety issues, including pedestrian, bicycle, and freight related safety needs.

KEY METROPOLITAN PLANNING DOCUMENTS AND PROCESSES

Unified Planning Work Program

REGULATORY BASIS

MPOs are required to develop Unified Planning Work Programs (UPWPs) in Transportation Management Areas (TMAs) to govern work programs for the expenditure of FHWA and FTA planning and research funds (23 CFR 450.308). 23 CFR 420.111 governs work programs required for the expenditure of FHWA highway planning and research funds. MPOs are required to develop UPWPs in cooperation with the State and public transit agencies. [23 CFR 450.308(c)]

OBSERVATIONS

The MPO consults and coordinates with a large number of agencies to develop the UPWP, including the MassDOT divisions, MassPort, MBTA, MBTA Advisory Board, MAPC, and through outreach to member communities. The UPWP also includes routine items conducted every year such as the development of certification documents, monitoring and analysis of the Congestion Management Process, travel demand modeling, public involvement activities, ongoing technical assistance for communities, transit planning, livability, MPO initiatives, and other items.

Subsequent to the on-site review, the staff was asked to provide information on the distribution of studies funded with the MPO's planning funds (FHWA PL and FTA Section 5303) from FY 2008 to FY 2013. The distribution of planning of studies was requested to be shown by municipality and median household income.

The UPWP activities that the staff provided included data sets on corridor studies, sub-area studies, intersection analyses, transit network studies, and memos generated on community transportation technical assistance. This was further expanded to include studies, reports, technical memoranda, and workshops; the information was displayed by the amount of funds programmed and by municipality. Data was provided for studies that focused on one or several municipalities; studies

with region wide applications were excluded. Studies or technical assistance that crossed municipal boundaries were prorated across all communities included.

The Review Team acknowledges that the 6-year timeframe reviewed is only a small snapshot in time. Twenty percent of the communities have received \$5,000 or less of "direct" or municipality-focused planning activity from the MPO during this period under review.

As an additional note, the UPWP contains a matrix (Table 1-1) cross-walking between U.S. DOT Planning Factors and UPWP projects. This is an good method for building transparency and connectivity into the metropolitan planning process; there may be an opportunity to create a similar matrix outlining connections between MTP goals and UPWP projects.

FINDINGS

Recommendation: The MPO should explore opportunities to expand its outreach to communities who may not have benefited from a significant planning activity, such as a safety, corridor, or congestion management study. It should make a special effort to engage communities that appear to have not benefitted from the planning program, and see if they have any technical needs related to safety, congestion, livability, or any other activity that the MPO can address through their work.

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION PLAN

REGULATORY BASIS

Federal regulations require the development of the Metropolitan Transportation Plan (MTP) as a key product of the metropolitan planning process: The metropolitan transportation planning process shall include the development of a transportation plan addressing no less than a 20-year planning horizon. The transportation plan shall include both long-range and short-range strategies/actions that lead to the development of an integrated multimodal transportation system to facilitate the safe and efficient movement of people and goods to address current and future transportation demand. [23 CFR 450.322]

OBSERVATIONS

MassDOT is advancing two major projects in the region, the I-90 Allston Interchange/West Station Multimodal Transportation Improvement Project and the Route 3 South Express Toll Lanes Project, that are not explicitly shown in the MTP. The MPO should ensure that these projects are financially viable and the revenues needed to implement these projects are clearly shown in the MTP. These major projects must be approved and supported by the MPO prior to any federal action by the FHWA.

It is recommended that the MPO work closely with MassDOT's Environmental Services section to ensure that environmental documents that are being developed for projects are approved by the MPO. Consistent with FHWA's guidance on the planning requirements and their relationship to the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (NEPA), each entire project described in a Record of Decision (ROD), Finding of No Significant Impact (FONSI), or Categorical Exclusion (CE) shall be

consistent with the MTP prior to the FHWA approval of the environmental document for that project.

FINDINGS

The transportation planning process in the Boston Region is consistent with the federal requirements for this topic area.

TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM AND PROJECT SELECTION PROCESS

REGULATORY BASIS

The MPO is required, under 23 CFR 450.324, to develop a Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) in cooperation with the State and public transit operators. The TIP shall cover a period of at least four years, must be updated at least every four years, and must be approved by the MPO and the governor. If the TIP is updated more frequently, the cycle must be compatible with the State Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) development and approval process. [23 CFR 450.324(a)]

OBSERVATIONS

The MPO adds transparency to the transportation programming process by clearly outlining the project selection process and providing a list of TIP evaluation criteria as part of the TIP document. The staff applies project evaluation criteria to the Target Program that consists of 35 questions which span six policy categories. The six policy categories are:

- System Preservation, Modernization, and Efficiency
- Livability and Economic Benefit
- Mobility
- Environment and Climate Change
- Environmental Justice
- Safety and Security

The Environmental Justice criteria (of which there are three) hinge on whether or not a project has effects in an "Environmental Justice Area" which is defined using a low-income or minority population threshold. Using this threshold, an area with a minority or low-income population slightly above the threshold (e.g. 30%) is treated the same as one with a very dense concentration of EJ populations (e.g. 90%).

The MPO has separate TIP project selection procedures for highway and transit modes. Although this is an effective procedure for mode-specific funding programs, it can create confusion around multi-modal programs such as the Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality (CMAQ) program or the Surface Transportation Program (STP). The region does have a history of flexing funds from these programs to transit, but the mode-flexible nature of these programs may not be widely understood, even within the MPO itself.

The MPO expressed concern about the need to plan for extreme weather events, sea level rise, and other impacts of climate change, and identified some resiliency and adaptation planning efforts being conducted by municipalities and agencies in the region. The MPO maintains a web-based All-Hazards mapping tool that is used to identify projects and transportation infrastructure that lie in natural hazard prone areas, including flood and hurricane surge zones. This tool is used during the TIP project evaluation process. Staff also pointed to a selection criterion in the Safety category that provides points for projects that address sea level rise or extreme weather. However, there was general agreement that the region might benefit from a more robust incorporation of resiliency into the project selection process.

Subsequent to the on-site review, the staff was asked to provide information on the distribution of the MPO Target Program from FY 2008 to FY 2013. The Target Program, otherwise known as "regional target" is the MPO's highway discretionary funding program. The distribution of TIP funding was requested to be shown by municipality and median household income.

The Review Team acknowledges that the 6-year timeframe reviewed is only a small snapshot in time. There are communities that may have received highway funding through the statewide road and bridge program under the direction of MassDOT, and there are other communities which have received earmarks and other discretionary awards.

At the on-site meeting, an MPO member discussed the challenges of getting a project funded through the MPO, and said communities often do not pursue federal funding because of the uncertainties of it becoming a TIP project. Communities are expected to finance the full cost of the design and the rights-of-way acquisition according to MassDOT's policy.

Over 50% of the communities in the FY 2008 to FY 2013 timeframe of the TIP did not receive a project funded with the Target Program. There exists an opportunity for the staff to seek out communities that have not benefited from the highway program, and determine if there are any institutional barriers to their participation.

FINDINGS

Recommendation: The MPO should refine its TIP project selection and prioritization process, in consideration of the following:

- Developing a clear, mode-neutral process by which flexible funding programs such as CMAQ and STP may be allocated to both transit and highway projects.
- Expanding the definition of "Environmental Justice Area" beyond a simple threshold to one that reflects a range of low-income and minority population levels.
- Adding an additional criterion or criteria related to transportation infrastructure resiliency, alignment with hazard mitigation plans, and/or climate change adaptation.

Recommendation: The MPO should make a special effort to engage communities that appear to have not benefitted from the MPO Target Program, statewide road and bridge program, earmarks, or discretionary awards. There may be institutional barriers that prevent communities for

accessing federal funding, and the staff should develop a strategy to assist those communities to develop eligible projects.

Recommendation: In order to improve transparency and public accessibility of the programming process, the MPO should include a general funding analysis as part of the introductory text of the TIP document. This analysis would present a basic overview of the projects proposed in the TIP, including summaries of data about project and/or funding allocation by mode, geographical area, and socioeconomic and demographic equity.

FINANCIAL PLANNING

REGULATORY BASIS

The metropolitan planning statutes state that the long-range transportation plan and TIP (23 U.S.C. 134 (j) (2) (B)) must include a "financial plan" that "indicates resources from public and private sources that are reasonably expected to be available to carry out the program" and demonstrates fiscal constraint for these documents. Estimates of funds available for use in the financial plan must be developed cooperatively by the MPO, public transportation operator(s), and the State (23 CFR 450.322). This cooperative process must be outlined in a written agreement that includes specific provisions for developing and sharing information related to the development of financial plans that support the metropolitan transportation plan (23 CFR 450.314).

In addition, the regulations provide that projects in air quality nonattainment and maintenance areas can be included in the first two years of the TIP and STIP only if funds are "available or committed" (23 CFR 450.324 and 23 CFR 450.216). Finally, the Clean Air Act's transportation conformity regulations specify that a conformity determination can only be made on a fiscally constrained long-range transportation plan and TIP (40 CFR 93.108).

OBSERVATIONS

The MPO's MOU states that funding estimates shall be cooperative and shall be discussed with a statewide group. Every year MassDOT seeks highway revenue funding guidance from FHWA for the TIP/STIP, and every four years for the MTP. MassDOT provides the Massachusetts Association of Regional Planning Agencies (MARPA) with estimates of highway revenue to be distributed among the MPOs. This MARPA formula provides the Boston Region MPO with 42.97% of highway funding after reductions for the statewide programs and the Accelerated Bridge Program GANS repayment. This formula has been in effect without change since 1991.

The MOU does not discuss how MTP revenues are developed. Reviewing the current MTP, *Paths to a Sustainable Region*, highway TIP projections are used for MTP development. The resulting MTP targets are then inflated through 2035 to develop the upper limits of the MPO's discretionary highway revenues.

The MTP describes in detail major highway and public transit investment through 2035. The MPO describes the major highway, maintenance, and bridge projects and the estimated funding

associated with them. The MTP does not include an assessment of the amount of revenue needed to keep the federal aid system in a state of good repair.

The total amount of projected capital for public transit through 2035 is \$13.2M. The MTP does a good job of describing the projected use of capital funds through 2035 (\$12.06M). Similarly, it includes a good description of the anticipated operating and maintenance cost through the life of the plan. These estimates were developed using a 2008 MBTA transportation study. FTA does not provide financial guidance, but rather encourages MPOs to develop their own projects of funding reasonably expected to be available.

MassDOT is encouraged to work cooperatively with the MPO and providers of public transportation in the region to develop financial projections for use in the financial plan of the TIP and MTP. The methodology used to develop highway and transit financial projections could be further described in the financial plan sections of the MTP, TIP and in the MOU.

FINDINGS

The transportation planning process in the Boston Region is consistent with the federal requirements for this topic area.

LIST OF OBLIGATED PROJECTS

REGULATORY BASIS

The MPO, transportation operators and the State must cooperatively develop a listing of projects for which Federal funds have been obligated in the previous year in accordance with 23 CFR 450.332. The listing must include all federally funded projects authorized or revised to increase obligations in the preceding program year and, at a minimum, the following for each project:

- *The amount of funds requested in the TIP;*
- Federal funding obligated during the preceding year;
- Federal funding remaining and available for subsequent years;
- Sufficient description to identify the project or phase; and
- Identification of the agencies responsible for carrying out the project or phase.

OBSERVATIONS

The MPO prepares a list of obligated projects annually, and makes this information available to the public by posting it on their website. During our review the MPO provided the Review Team a copy of the FY 2013 project list. This project list is titled "FY 2013 List of Obligated Funds," and was produced by MassDOT's Federal Aid Programming Office.

The report details all financial transactions during the fiscal year. The report does not clearly depict obligations for projects in the FY 2013 TIP. It is uncertain how this information can be traced back to the FY 2013 MPO TIP. There were financial transactions that occurred outside of the FY 2013 window, and the obligation report should clearly show specific projects obligated in FY 2013.

The Annual List of Projects lacks detail as required in 23 CFR 450.322. The list does not show the amount of funding requested in the TIP. Certain significant project details are missing from the report including project sponsor, project description, project number and/or phase. Some instances will show nominal cost changes or nothing at all. Projects funded with FTA funds are not included despite being funded in the TIP.

The MPO does make efforts to show advance construct project information. Obligations such as planning studies such (e.g. PL and 5303) have also been included in the report.

FINDINGS

Recommendation: The MPO shall demonstrate a better link between the TIP and the list of obligated projects. The MPO shall publish a list of all projects funded with federal funds, including public transit projects, and this published list should be consistent with the format of the TIP. The MPO should also work cooperatively with responsible parties to develop the list to meet requirements of 23 CFR 450.314.

SELF-CERTIFICATIONS

REGULATORY BASIS

The State and the MPO must self-certify to FHWA and FTA that the metropolitan planning process is being carried out in accordance with federal requirements. This self-certification is required under 23 CFR 450.334 to take place at least once every four years, in concurrence with submittal of the TIP/STIP. The applicable requirements that must be covered in this certification include:

- 1. 23 U.S.C. 134 and 49 U.S.C. 5303 and Sections 174 and 176(c) and (d) of the Clean Air Act (if applicable);
- 2. In nonattainment and maintenance areas, sections 174 and 176 (c) and (d) of the Clean Air Act, as amended (42 U.S.C. 7504, 7506 (c) and (d)) and 40 CFR part 93;
- 3. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and the Title VI assurance executed by each State;
- 4. 49 U.S.C. 5332, prohibiting discrimination on the basis of race, color, creed, national origin, sex, or age in employment or business opportunity;
- 5. Section 1101(b) of SAFETEA-LU and 49 CFR Part 26, regarding involvement of DBE in U.S. DOT-funded planning projects;
- 6. 23 CFR Part 230, regarding the implementation of an equal employment opportunity program on Federal and Federal-aid highway construction contracts;
- 7. ADA and U.S. DOT regulations governing transportation for people with disabilities [49 CFR Parts 27, 37, and 38];
- 8. Older Americans Act as amended, prohibiting discrimination on the basis of age, and Section 324 of Title 23 U.S.C., regarding the prohibition of discrimination based on gender;
- 9. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and 49 CFR Part 27, regarding discrimination against individuals with disabilities; and

10. All other applicable provisions of Federal law (e.g., while no longer specifically noted in a self-certification, prohibition of use of Federal funds for "lobbying" still applies and should be covered in all grant agreement documents (see 23 CFR 630.112).

A Certification Review by FTA and FHWA of the planning process in TMAs is required at least once every four years, in addition to the required self-certification by the MPO and State.

OBSERVATIONS

The Boston Region MPO TIP and UPWP both include a self-certification section, which consists of a synopsis of the necessary provisions as stated above, followed by the signatures of the MPO board members.

FINDINGS

The transportation planning process in the Boston Region is consistent with the federal requirements for this topic area.

CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS

REGULATORY BASIS

The State(s) and the MPO must develop a systematic approach for managing congestion through a process that "provides for safe and effective integrated management and operation of the multimodal transportation system. The Congestion Management Process (CMP) applies to transportation management areas (TMAs) based on a cooperatively developed and implemented metropolitan-wide strategy of new and existing transportation facilities eligible for funding under 23 U.S.C. and title 49 U.S.C. Chapter 53 through the use of travel demand reduction and operational management strategies." (23 CFR 450.320(a))

OBSERVATIONS

The CMP in the Boston region shows evidence that it is an important component of the overall transportation planning process. The Review Team noted that the CMP uses a sound framework for analysis and demonstrates integration with the UPWP, MTP, and TIP. The staff ranks congested corridors and other problem locations (e.g. intersections) using CMP data. For a project to appear in the TIP, it must pass set criteria, which includes a CMP analysis. The TIP evaluation criteria awards additional points for projects in CMP-identified areas. This linkage to the TIP is a critical characteristic of a mature and robust CMP.

The structure of the CMP essentially follows the recommended FHWA guidelines and serves the MPO as a sound planning tool with its corridor-based approach, data collection focus (e.g. the use of INRIX data for monitoring), and toolbox of strategies for analysis purposes. The regional travel demand model is an important analytical tool.

The goals adopted by the MPO's CMP are 1) improve efficiency, 2) increase mobility, and 3) improve safety. The range of performance measures is varied and should be useful as the profession transitions to a performance based planning and programming approach. Through the Page | 15

variety of measures, the duration, extent, intensity, and variability of congestion are measured. New performance measures are considered on an ongoing basis; for example, the use of new INRIX data led to new performance measures now included.

The MPO has developed two interactive, web-based dashboards: an Express-Highway Performance Dashboard and an Arterial Performance Dashboard. These dashboards provide a snapshot of the system based on select highway performance measures. They provide visualization of the data as well as accessible data tables.

In 2012 the MPO established a permanent Congestion Management Process Committee. The Committee has eight members including representatives of local municipalities and the State. The presence of a CMP Committee to shepherd relevant activities is an effective feature. As the CMP continues to mature, the staff should continue to pursue opportunities to link output from the CMP to future updates of the MTP and to TIP preparation and project selection activities. The staff is commended for their continued CMP development work activities.

The MPO staff is encouraged to work on further refining this important analytical tool. Particularly, some additional consideration of the role freight plays in the CMP is suggested. Also, as strategies are deemed feasible for congestion mitigation in certain corridors, tracking their progress towards acceptance and implementation will be important to gauging the overall effectiveness of the CMP.

FINDINGS

The transportation planning process in the Boston Region is consistent with the federal requirements for this topic area.

AIR QUALITY

REGULATORY BASIS

For MPOs that the EPA classifies as air quality nonattainment or maintenance areas, many special requirements apply to the metropolitan planning process. Section 176 (c)(1) of the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 (CAAA) states: "No metropolitan planning organization designated under section 134 of title 23, United States Code, shall give its approval to any project, program, or plan which does not conform to an implementation plan approved or promulgated under section 110." The Intermodal Surface Transportation Efficiency Act of 1991 (ISTEA) and subsequent federal transportation statutes have included provisions responding to the CAAA mandates.

In nonattainment or maintenance areas, if the MPO is not the designated agency for air quality planning under section 174 of the Clean Air Act, there shall be a written agreement between the MPO and the designated air quality planning agency describing their respective roles and responsibilities for air quality related transportation planning.

OBSERVATIONS

The Boston region is in attainment for Nitrogen Dioxide (NO_2), Particulate Matter ($PM_{2.5}$ & PM_{10}), and for the 2008 8-Hour Ozone standard. The region contains two Carbon Monoxide (CO) air

quality maintenance areas: one encompassing the cities of Boston, Cambridge, Chelsea, Everett, Malden, Medford, Quincy, Revere, and Somerville, and another in Waltham.

The Boston Carbon Monoxide Area (Boston, Cambridge, Chelsea, Everett, Malden, Medford, Quincy, Revere, and Somerville) has a maintenance plan in place with a State Implementation Plan (SIP) approved 2010 motor vehicle carbon monoxide emission budget in place requiring a regional emission analysis for any carbon monoxide conformity determination of the Boston CO Area. The Waltham maintenance area is under an EPA-approved limited maintenance plan. Under the limited maintenance plan a regional emissions analysis for CO is not required; however, all other transportation conformity requirements under 40 CFR 93.109 (b) continue to apply to the Waltham maintenance area.

A new transportation conformity determination for carbon monoxide is required for the FY 2016-2019 TIP in Central Massachusetts MPO (Worcester); Pioneer Valley MPO (Springfield); Boston Region MPO (Waltham and Boston Area) and Northern Middlesex MPO (Lowell).

The Boston Region MPO is part of an air quality MOU, entitled "Concerning the Conduct of Transportation Air Quality Planning and Implementation of the State Implementation Plan." This is an agreement among the Massachusetts MPOs, the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection (DEP), the Executive Office of Transportation and Construction (now MassDOT), the RTAs, the MBTA, and the Massachusetts Port Authority. This MOU was last signed in 1996 and has not been updated since then.

The Boston region has proactively used the SIP as a tool to implement transit projects as mitigations for the Central Artery/Tunnel project (known as "The Big Dig"). While certain SIP commitment projects have been characterized locally as burdensome, there is no doubt that the SIP mechanism has delivered several valuable projects that would not otherwise have been built. The MPO has an opportunity to reflect on how the SIP has historically been used and to analyze its successes and failures as an informative case study.

FINDINGS

Recommendation: The Review Team recommends updating the current MOU between the MPOs, MassDOT, the Department of Environmental Protection (DEP), and providers of public transportation, with the intent to recognize the reorganization of the various transportation agencies under the MassDOT umbrella. This agreement was signed in 1996 and there is a need to develop a new MOU that will recognize the roles of all agencies including MassDOT.

Recommendation: The Review Team recommends that the Boston MPO consider utilizing the UPWP process to engage in a study to determine how the development of the SIP and the progress and advancement of SIP commitment projects has affected regional air quality. Possible contents could include an investigation into how the tool has been used in the past, how it has or could potentially be used to implement regional projects and priorities, and the prospect of exporting it to other regions, including areas that are in air quality attainment.

COORDINATED, COOPERATIVE, AND COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING PROCESS

CONSULTATION AND THE 3C PLANNING PROCESS

REGULATORY BASIS

Federal regulation (23 CFR 450.306) defines the scope of the metropolitan planning process, describing it as "continuous, cooperative, and comprehensive", and outlining eight planning factors that must be addressed:

- 1. Support the economic vitality of the metropolitan area, especially by enabling global competitiveness, productivity, and efficiency.
- 2. Increase the safety of the transportation system for motorized and non-motorized users.
- 3. Increase the security of the transportation system for motorized and non-motorized users.
- 4. Increase the accessibility and mobility of people and for freight.
- 5. Protect and enhance the environment, promote energy conservation, improve the quality of life, and promote consistency between transportation improvements and State and local planned growth and economic development patterns.
- 6. Enhance the integration and connectivity of the transportation system, across and between modes, people and freight.
- 7. Promote efficient system management and operation.
- 8. Emphasize the preservation of the existing transportation system.

The regulation goes on to describe ways in which the transportation planning process should be coordinated with other agencies and processes.

23 CFR 450.316(b-e) requires MPOs to consult with agencies and officials responsible for other planning processes when developing MTPs and TIPs. 23 CFR 450.322(f-g) further elaborates on this requirement, specifically as it relates to environmental mitigation. The MPO should engage in a consultation that includes (1) comparison of the MTP with State conservation plans or maps, if available, or (2) comparison of the MTP with inventories of natural or historic resources, if available.

OBSERVATIONS

The Eight Planning Factors are listed in the MTP under the "Foundation of Visions and Policies" section. The Planning Factors are incorporated in the TIP via the MPO Visions and Policies, which informed the TIP project selection process evaluation criteria. The planning factors are also incorporated into the UPWP through its selection criteria, and relationships between UPWP activities and the planning factors are explicitly identified in Chapter 1 of the UPWP.

The MPO's Regional Transportation Advisory Council, which includes voting seats for the Executive Office of Energy and Environmental Affairs, the Department of Conservation and Recreation, and

the Executive Office of Elder Affairs, among other agencies and organizations, provides opportunities for interagency information sharing and informal consultation. Other agencies with land use planning and related responsibilities, such as the Metropolitan Area Planning Council (MAPC) and the Boston Redevelopment Authority, have full voting membership on the MPO policy board.

FINDINGS

The transportation planning process in the Boston Region is consistent with the federal requirements for this topic area.

MPO ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

REGULATORY BASIS

Federal legislation (23 U.S.C. 134(d)) requires the designation of an MPO for each urbanized area with a population of more than 50,000 individuals. When an MPO representing all or part of a TMA is initially designated or redesignated according to 23 CFR 450.310(d), the policy board of the MPO shall consist of (a) local elected officials, (b) officials of public agencies that administer or operate major modes of transportation within the metropolitan area, including representation by providers of public transportation, and (c) appropriate State transportation officials. The voting membership of an MPO that was designated or redesignated prior to December 18th, 1991, will remain valid until a new MPO is redesignated. Redesignation is required whenever the existing MPO seeks to substantially change the proportion of voting members representing individual jurisdictions or the State or the decision-making authority or procedures established under MPO bylaws.

The addition of jurisdictional or political bodies into the MPO or of members to the policy board generally does not require a redesignation of the MPO.

OBSERVATIONS

The Boston Region MPO was first designated in 1973, and consisted of just four members. Since that time, the MPO board has evolved through multiple restructurings to be broader and more inclusive, and now consists of:

- Massachusetts Department of Transportation (3 seats)
- Massachusetts Bay Transportation Authority (1 seat)
- Massachusetts Port Authority (1 seat)
- Metropolitan Area Planning Council (1 seat)
- Regional Transportation Advisory Council (1 seat)
- MBTA Advisory Board (1 seat)
- City of Boston (2 seats)
- At-Large Cities (2 seats)
- At-Large Towns (2 seats)
- Towns and Cities Representing Sub-Regions (8 seats)

The planning and analysis work of the MPO is performed primarily by the Central Transportation Planning Staff (CTPS). The CTPS and the MPO also coordinate closely with the Metropolitan Area Planning Council (MAPC), which is the land use planning agency for the Boston region.

MAP-21 specifies that MPOs designated or redesignated after December 18th, 1991 must include representatives of public transit on the MPO board. The Boston Region MPO includes representation of the major provider of public transportation for the region, the MBTA. However, two additional smaller transit providers, the MetroWest Regional Transit Authority (MWRTA) and the Cape Ann Transportation Authority (CATA), operate in the region and are not directly represented on the board. These agencies have expressed some concern that, given the vast difference in scale between their agencies and the MBTA, their needs may not be fully represented by the current arrangement.

FINDINGS

Recommendation: The MPO should work with the MetroWest and Cape Ann Regional Transit Authorities to ensure that these providers of public transportation are represented on the MPO board in a way that is satisfactory to all parties and satisfies the MAP-21 requirement for transit representation on MPO boards. The particular form of this representation should be determined cooperatively by the interested parties. Possible examples include: full or fractional representation on the board for each RTA; a single seat that rotates between the RTAs; a transit or intermodal "functional sub-region" representative similar to the geographical sub-region representatives already on the board; indirect representation through another MPO board member (e.g. MBTA or MassDOT) supplemented by voting membership for both RTAs on the Regional Transportation Advisory Council (RTAC); or some other form of representation agreed upon by all parties.

INTER-AGENCY AGREEMENTS AND CONSULTATION

REGULATORY BASIS

In accordance with 23 U.S.C. 134 and 23 CFR 450, MPOs must consult with agencies and officials responsible for other planning processes when developing TIPs and MTPs, and must carry out a planning process that is "continuing, cooperative and comprehensive" (3C). This includes establishing memorandums of understanding (MOUs) identifying the mutual roles, responsibilities, and procedures governing their cooperative efforts. These agreements must identify the designated agency for air quality planning under the Clean Air Act and address the responsibilities and situations arising from there being more than one MPO in a metropolitan area. Furthermore, the MPO should engage in consultation that includes (1) comparison of the MTP with State conservation plans or maps, if available, or (2) comparison of the MTP with inventories of natural or historic resources, if available.

On April 23, 2014, U.S. DOT Secretary Anthony Foxx outlined three Planning Emphasis Areas for 2015. These are not regulations, but rather are topic areas that MPOs and State DOTs are encouraged to focus on when conducting their planning processes and developing their planning

work programs. One of these Emphasis Areas is *Models of Regional Planning Cooperation*, which reads:

Promote cooperation across MPO boundaries and across State boundaries where appropriate to ensure a regional approach to transportation planning. This is particularly important where more than one MPO or State serves an urbanized area or adjacent urbanized areas. The cooperation could occur through the metropolitan planning agreements..., through the development of joint planning products, and/or by other locally determined means.

OBSERVATIONS

The MPO maintains several MOUs which describe its roles and responsibilities in relation to other agencies and authorities with planning responsibilities in the region:

- The MPO's member MOU, signed on July 7, 2011 among the then-current members of the MPO, which outlines the composition and roles of the MPO, the functions of the various committees and of CTPS, and the transportation programming process.
- A regional inter-agency MOU, dated September 9, 2003, between the Boston Region MPO and the adjacent Boston-area MPOs of Merrimack Valley MPO, Northern Middlesex MPO, Old Colony MPO, and the Southeastern Massachusetts MPO.
- A transit MOU, dated February 8, 2012, between the MPO and the region's smaller transit providers, CATA and MWRTA.
- A commonwealth-wide air quality MOU, dated July 31, 1996, among all of the MPOs and State Departments of Environment and Transportation. (See Air Quality Section for further discussion of this MOU.)

The 2010 Census updated the Boston urbanized area (UZA) boundary to cover portions of several MPOs not currently covered under the regional inter-agency MOU described above. These include Montachusett MPO and Central Massachusetts MPO in Massachusetts; Rockingham Planning Council, Southern New Hampshire Planning Council, and Nashua Regional Planning Council in New Hampshire; and the Rhode Island Statewide Planning Council in Rhode Island.

The MPO's Regional Transportation Advisory Council, which includes voting seats for the Executive Office of Energy and Environmental Affairs, the Department of Conservation and Recreation, and the Executive Office of Elder Affairs, among other agencies and organizations, provides opportunities for interagency information sharing and informal consultation. Other agencies with planning responsibilities (e.g. the Metropolitan Area Planning Council and the Boston Redevelopment Authority) have full voting membership on the MPO policy board.

The FTA Urbanized Area Formula funding program (Section 5307) "split agreement" process allocates federal transit funding among the ten transit agencies whose service areas include parts of the Boston urbanized area, three of which operate service within the boundaries of the Boston Region MPO. The Boston Region MPO is not directly involved in the coordination of this split agreement. There may be an opportunity for the MPO to facilitate the split of transit funds so as to

better meet transit capital investment needs, which tend to vary dramatically from year to year, especially for small agencies.

FINDINGS

Recommendation: The MPO should update its regional inter-agency MOU to include all MPOs in the Boston UZA, as defined by the 2010 U.S. Census.

Recommendation: In fulfillment of U.S. DOT Secretary Foxx's *Models of Regional Planning Cooperation* Planning Emphasis Area, the MPO should work with its partner MPOs in the Boston urbanized area (starting with the Northern Middlesex MPO, Merrimack Valley MPO, and Old Colony MPO, which are the MPOs with the largest geographical portions of the Boston UZA) to better align regional transportation planning documents, such as the MTP, UPWP, or TIP. Best practices include explicitly referencing the planning documents and processes of neighboring MPOs; including each MPO's planning document as a section in a combined region-wide planning document; or collaborating with neighboring MPOs to create integrated regional planning documents. These practices can help promote a more coordinated planning process, particularly for projects and corridors that cross MPO boundaries.

INTERMODAL TRANSPORTATION COORDINATION

REGULATORY BASIS

Federal regulation makes clear the need for coordination across modes during the transportation planning process. According to 23 CFR 450.306, the scope of the metropolitan planning process must include:

- Consideration of both motorized and nonmotorized users;
- Enhancing the integration and connectivity of the transportation system, across and between modes, for people and freight; and
- Preparation of the coordinated public transit-human services transportation plan in coordination with the metropolitan transportation planning process.

MAP-21 has clarified that the MPO itself must consist of "officials of public agencies that administer or operate major modes of transportation in the metropolitan area, *including representation by providers of public transportation.*" (49 USC 5303)

Furthermore, 23 CFR 450.316 calls for a planning process that incorporates input from public transit riders, pedestrians, bicyclists, providers of private transportation, and airports; and 23 CFR 450.322 specifies that the MTP should include consideration of "pedestrian walkways and bicycle facilities."

OBSERVATIONS

The transportation system of the Boston Region is extremely multi-modal, and this is largely reflected in the MPO's planning process. Modal operators with seats on the MPO board include the MBTA (bus, subway, commuter rail, paratransit, ferry), MassDOT (highways, rail and transit,

community and human services transportation), and MassPort (airport, seaport). There are two Regional Transit Authorities (RTAs) in the region, CATA and MWRTA, and neither are members of the MPO board, though CATA has a seat on the MPO's Regional Transportation Advisory Council (RTAC). Along with CATA, groups representing bicycling, walking, ridesharing, seaports, freight rail, and private bus all have voting seats on the RTAC.

The MTP extensively references transit, bicycle, and pedestrian needs along with highway needs in its visions, goals, and objectives. Bicycle, pedestrian, and transit projects are programmed in the TIP as well, though the exact amount programmed for each mode is not easy to ascertain from the TIP document.

Ferry services in the region are not fully integrated into the larger transportation system, and lack easy-to-use connections to other modes. Some routes are operated under contract by the MBTA (e.g. Charlestown, Hingham, Hull), while others are municipally operated (e.g. Salem). The various services do not benefit from an integrated fare structure or scheduling policy.

At the time of this review, the State is leading an effort to develop a vision for ferry transportation in the Commonwealth, known as the Ferry Compact. So far this work has been focused on cataloguing existing services. A report is being developed which will also identify potential outstanding needs.

FINDINGS

Recommendation: The MPO should clearly present basic information about the modal breakdown of funds and projects programmed in the TIP and planned in the MTP. This information should be presented in a clear and attractive format as part of the TIP and MTP documents, so that members of the public and agency stakeholders can easily gain a broad understanding of the region's transportation priorities.

Commendation: The Ferry Compact is a well-conceived and timely initiative that provides a much-needed space for system-wide ferry transportation planning and visioning. As the Compact's work progresses, we encourage the MPO, MassDOT, and the MBTA to work together to ensure that the Ferry Compact visioning effort focuses on ways to better integrate ferry service with the region's public transit network.

PUBLIC OUTREACH AND PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT

REGULATORY BASIS

The MPO is required, under 23 CFR 450.316, 23 CFR 450.322(f-g), and 23 CFR 450.324(b) to engage in a metropolitan planning process that creates opportunities for public involvement, participation and consultation throughout the development of the MTP and the TIP.

OBSERVATIONS

The MPO adopted a new Public Participation Plan (PPP) on October 16, 2014 which serves as the foundation for all public outreach and involvement the MPO conducts. The PPP identifies a vision

and guidelines for public outreach activities, and it documents the types of opportunities that are available for participation in the region's transportation planning and decision-making process. Additionally, the PPP specifies the process and schedules used to conduct public involvement on the MPO's key certification documents.

The MPO makes heavy use of web-based tools for public involvement and outreach. This includes an assortment of email lists, an email newsletter, the MPO's main website, web-based mapping tools, and other tools. All notices for MPO-sponsored meetings or release of documents for public comment are sent through some or all of the email lists and are posted on the website. Individuals or entities are added to the various email lists for a variety of reasons, but newly-added recipients may not be receiving sufficient information to help them understand what the MPO is, what the MPO does, why they are receiving the emails they get, and how to request further information.

Additionally, the MPO recognizes that providing public information to people who are not comfortable with technology or do not use the internet is still important. Press releases are sent to print media in addition to some radio and television outlets. MPO staff is currently working on an approach to more effectively use local libraries to serve as an additional source of information on the MPO's activities and documents.

The MPO and MPO committee meetings are all open to the public. The MPO has recently begun holding one meeting each quarter outside of Boston, in a different sub-region each time. This practice received praise from members who felt it provided an excellent opportunity for a more regional perspective. Additionally, the MPO sponsors a variety of public meetings each year which may be workshops, general information sessions, information sessions specific to a certification document, forums, or other special topic discussions.

In regards to how the MPO documents and responds to public comments, we find that the process for tracking and responding to written comments is commendable; however, the manner in which oral comments are handled could be more consistent. A summary table of written comments is provided to the MPO, and a copy, which then includes the MPO's response, is also provided back to those who submitted written comments. Whereas the disposition of written comments is tracked and communicated in writing to each commenter, oral comments are acknowledged in public forums, recorded, and later summarized for use by MPO staff and reported on to the MPO at public meetings. Only written comments receive a direct response from the MPO. While it may not be necessary to follow-up in writing to each comment, there will be times when this is appropriate, especially when such comments implicate equity or access concerns. General comments received by staff on an ongoing basis are provided to the appropriate program or project manager for a response.

Evaluation forms are available at most meetings, giving attendees an opportunity to provide feedback on meeting effectiveness. Staff also reviews and tracks sign-in sheets from meetings to identify who is participating and who may be missing. The most in-depth evaluation of the outreach process occurs when the MPO periodically updates its PPP. As a part of the year-long process for the most recent update to the PPP in 2014, the MPO held a series of public meetings and solicited

input from the public via both web-based and print surveys on how people felt the outreach process was working. The responses indicated most respondents preferred receiving information via email and providing comments via email, public meeting, or the website.

It can be difficult to explain the planning process to members of the general public and advocacy groups who may not have much experience in transportation or planning. Staff has made an effort to reduce the use of jargon and uses visualization techniques to convey information, including information on the MPO's processes, projects, and plans. Where appropriate, the staff tailors information to specific audiences or geographic sub-regions.

The Review Team heard concerns from the public that the many layers of the planning process and the various jurisdictions involved make it difficult for citizens and local neighborhood groups to be involved in the process. Area citizens may have valuable experiences and local knowledge to contribute to corridor and subarea planning studies, but the process for doing so is not clear or transparent to interested citizens. It is incumbent on the MPO to be proactive in reaching out to citizens who are affected by any planning studies or related efforts.

FINDINGS

Recommendation: The MPO should develop a procedure to ensure individuals and entities that are added to an email list all receive an introductory message with an explanation of the MPO and its processes and what they can expect to receive as part of the email list, etc. (as also discussed in the Title VI and Nondiscrimination Outreach and Access section of this report). Additionally, the Review Team recommends the MPO staff explore ways to reduce duplicative emails (e.g. individuals receiving the same information multiple times from the MPO because they are members of multiple email lists) while still ensuring full dissemination of information.

Recommendation: Regarding the disposition of public comments in its process, the MPO should consider the types of oral responses that warrant written responses. In addition, it should track the disposition of these responses and share them publicly in the same manner as written comments. The MPO should also pursue proactive methods to engage area citizen representation in all planning efforts including corridor and subarea planning studies and similar activities, for example through inclusion of residents in study advisory groups and so forth.

TITLE VI NOTICE AND COMPLAINT PROCEDURES

REGULATORY BASIS

49 CFR 21.9(d); 28 CFR 35.107; 23 CFR 200.9(b)(3); FTA C4702.1B, Chapter III, 5 & 6.

OBSERVATIONS

The MPO has adopted, with appropriate revisions, MassDOT's Title VI Notice to Beneficiaries. This is a comprehensive notification that includes a description of both Federal and State protections against discrimination. The notice is relatively easy to locate and prominently displayed on the MPO's website. At the bottom of the notice webpage, there are links to translations in seven different languages. The MPO has incorporated Title VI notice language into its monthly Page | 25

TransReport newsletter. Electronic and hardcopy public meeting announcements include an abbreviated Title VI notice with instructions for requesting reasonable accommodations and language services to participate in the event. Also, meeting announcements are translated into four languages and posted to the MPO's online events calendar.

Within the notice there is a link to the MPO's complaint procedures. These procedures are somewhat general and do not sufficiently describe the steps and authority to investigate the various types of complaints covered under the process. The MPO must create a uniform process that recognizes both FTA and FHWA protections applicable to each element of the planning program. MassDOT's Title VI Specialist is currently developing a Title VI/Nondiscrimination Complaint Process template for use by sub-recipients. It is anticipated this will be available by the spring of 2015.

The current complaint procedures and forms have only been translated in Spanish. The MPO's Four Factor Analysis identifies this document as "vital" and states that such documents are formally translated into Spanish, Chinese, and Portuguese and posted on its website. Given the anticipated release of a complaint process template by MassDOT, we understand the MPO's rationale for the delay in providing further translations of its current process.

FINDINGS

Recommendation: The MPO should continue to work with MassDOT's Title VI Specialist to revise its complaint procedure and form. Once complete, these documents should be translated into Spanish, Chinese, Portuguese, and any other languages indicated by the MPO's Language Access Plan, and posted to the MPO's web site. The MPO should plan any staff trainings that may be required to support the rollout of the updated complaint procedures. It is also recommended that this item be reviewed by an appropriate subcommittee of the proposed (MassDOT/FHWA/MPO) Title VI Working Group before it is adopted.

TITLE VI AND NONDISCRIMINATION DATA COLLECTION AND ANALYSIS

REGULATORY BASIS

49 CFR 21.9 (b); 23 CFR 200.9(b)(4); 28 CFR Part 42.406; FTA C4702.1B, Chapter V, 2.e.

OBSERVATIONS

Under its Transportation Equity Program, the MPO seeks to consider the needs of traditionally underserved populations, while ensuring minority and low-income communities are treated equitably in the provision of transportation services and projects.

Based on a review of the MPO's key documents and its responses in the Request for Materials, we find that its data collection and demographic analysis are somewhat limited and not consistently applied across all elements of the program. Specifically, the references given to protected populations considered in the planning process vary from "minority and low-income" or "environmental justice communities" to "minority, LEP, elderly, and low-income." We also note that consideration of persons with disabilities within the MPO's documents is stated in terms of Page | 26

communication and physical access to public forums, rather than populations that may be served or impacted.

With regard to data collection and analysis, the MPO defines two categories consistent with the environmental justice requirements: minority and low-income. Specifically, the MPO currently uses one definition for identifying a minority transportation analysis zone (TAZ)—a geographic area with a composite minority population above 27.8% (region average). In addition, the MPO has established a low-income threshold of \$42,497 (60% of the MPO's region median income). However, the MPO has not articulated a metric for identifying populations where there is a meaningfully greater (or above average) concentration of low-income persons or households. Likewise, it was not clear that the MPO had defined Title VI/Nondiscrimination populations indicative of age, gender, and disability. With respect to data concerning age, the MPO's documentation primarily relates to "elderly" populations (over age 65), whereas the Age discrimination Act of 1975 applies to all ages. It does not appear that other age brackets have been established to identify transportation impacts relevant to each.

While the MPO has conducted an analysis regarding usage and investment by "race and income" for highway and transit systems within the region, it seeks to conduct an in-depth geographic or community-focused analysis of transportation investments. Including an analysis of benefits and burdens with respect to Title VI/Nondiscrimination populations.

Additionally, we are concerned about the MPO's definition for *areas of concern*. The MPO states:

For outreach purposes, the MPO has identified what it calls areas of concern, which are clusters of TAZs that meet the MPO's income or minority criteria. In general the TAZs in these clusters have to have at least 200 low-income or minority residents each. TAZs with populations that meet the thresholds and that contain group living quarters with changing populations (prisons and college dorms) but small numbers of households, are excluded.

While this approach might seem practical, it could cause small but significant Title VI/nondiscrimination populations to be excluded. Furthermore, it is unclear how this definition relates to how the MPO identifies whether or not these populations are meaningfully greater. For example, it is unclear how the minimum requirement of 200 low-income or minority residents compares to a percentage, such as 28.7%, to determine that these populations are above average.

FINDINGS

Recommendation: The MPO should expand its data collection and analysis to encompass both environmental justice and Title VI/Nondiscrimination Program requirements. This data should include all protected persons based on race, color, national origin/LEP, age, gender, disability, and low-income. In addition, the MPO should establish definitions to identify populations in each of these categories that are meaningfully greater or above average, and no segment of the population should be excluded.

Recommendation: The MPO should collect and analyze data consistent with the protections under Title VI, the nondiscrimination statutes, and relevant executive orders. In its analysis, the MPO should consider the impacts to these populations in terms of access and equity with respect to each element of the program. Further, the MPO should develop a definition or metric for identifying each type of Title VI/nondiscrimination population where there is a concentration (above average) of people protected under the statutes and relevant executive orders, i.e. household incomes less than \$42,497, persons less than 18 years old, persons 65 or older, one of the five federally-recognized minority categories, etc.

Recommendation: The MPO should articulate the method and establish metrics to define its Title VI/ nondiscrimination populations. In addition, these populations, including what the MPO defines as "areas of concern" should be inclusive of the entire demographic, whether containing group living quarters or transient communities. The MPO should also develop a mechanism for evaluating these metrics to determine their accuracy and when adjustments are appropriate. For example, the MPO has currently defined a low-income individual as one who is living in a household where the income is 60% of the median household income in the planning region. The Massachusetts poverty guidelines on which this percentage was based apply only to a 4-person household. This should be clarified in the MPO's definition, and the MPO should review its household data obtained through the Census Bureau to make sure it is consistent with this definition.

Recommendation: The MPO is strongly encouraged to develop a methodology for determining transportation impacts to Title VI/nondiscrimination populations. Specifically, a method for determining benefits and burdens and program distribution should be established. It is further recommended that the MPO adopt the relevant metrics found in MassDOT's Phase II Analysis entitled, "Analysis of Federal Aid Highway Program Project Distribution and Title VI Populations in Massachusetts." Given these metrics, the MPO should periodically conduct equity analyses. To advance this work, we further recommend that this item be reviewed by an appropriate subcommittee of the proposed (MassDOT/FHWA/MPO) Title VI Working Group before it is adopted.

TITLE VI AND NONDISCRIMINATION OUTREACH AND ACCESS

REGULATORY BASIS

23 CFR 450.316; 28 CFR Part 35, Subparts B & E; FTA C4702.1B, Chapter III, 8.

OBSERVATIONS

The MPO's outreach efforts are broad and include the following: holding MPO meetings outside of the Boston area once quarterly; reaching out to municipalities that have not advanced projects through the planning process; and outreach to organizations serving protected groups to encourage their participation in the Transportation Equity Forum, MTP focus group, and surveys.

While these and other efforts undertaken by the MPO are commendable, the MPO's documented practice concerning communications suggests that outreach is limited to groups that are located in

a minority TAZ and the information provided to these organizations is related to equity concerns, notice regarding the availability of key documents, and solicitations for comment. Based on the discussion during the on-site review, it remains unclear that all organizations serving Title VI/nondiscrimination populations, regardless of their location, are being contacted early and often about regional transportation issues and opportunities to participate. Likewise, there doesn't appear to be any targeted use of the Equity List to reach protected populations in areas served or impacted by planned projects. Despite the MPO's efforts to provide some organizations with information it feels is of primary importance, there is no apparent process to introduce new organizations or to periodically contact all listed organizations with instruction on how to opt-in for additional communications.

With regard to representation on the Advisory Council, we note that there are no organizations or "Advocacy Groups" that seek to represent Title VI/nondiscrimination populations. This absence requires a comprehensive outreach and education effort to identify key organizations and leaders across the demographics of the planning region. We believe the MPO's efforts to actively solicit the participation of stakeholders across the Title VI/nondiscrimination populations would help to develop trust, understanding, and awareness of opportunities to participate among a broader Title VI/nondiscrimination constituency leading to increased participation.

On a related note and considering the primary recipient's oversight role, the fact that MassDOT ODCR coordinated efforts to identify diverse and viable stakeholder contacts across each planning region is an encouraging step. The FHWA and the FTA understand that ODCR provided each MPO, including the Boston Region MPO, with comprehensive lists of registered not-for-profit organizations that the MPOs culled for contacts that weren't currently included in outreach activities. Crucially, this information is being relayed back to ODCR for incorporation into the online outreach map tool MassDOT is concurrently developing. The MPO has vetted new contacts from the database provided by ODCR to ensure that they are appropriate for the Transportation Equity List. However, there appears to be no outreach to newly identified groups with introductory correspondence describing transportation planning and opportunities to participate (as also discussed in the Public Outreach and Public Involvement section of this report). In addition, the MassDOT Title VI Specialist indicated that additional analysis was necessary to ensure that the listed organizations were sufficient to reach all Title VI/nondiscrimination populations within the planning region.

Regarding the question of opportunities for participation and consultation by State, local, and tribal agencies, the MPO included in its response, "There are no tribal governments within the boundaries of the Boston Region MPO area." This response is concerning, as while there are no "tribal governments" within the planning region, there are many other Native American organizations including federally and non-federally recognized tribes with an interest in the Boston region that should be included in the Equity Contact List. The MPO should have regular contact with these organizations as part of its regional outreach strategy. Further, there may be instances where the MPO will need to conduct broader outreach with Native American organizations concerning projects that cross planning region boundaries.

FINDINGS

Recommendation: With respect to the MPO's outreach and communication to organizations serving Title VI/nondiscrimination populations, the MPO should verify that its contacts on the Equity List are viable and sufficient to serve as conduits to the Title VI/nondiscrimination populations in the region. This list should include all known native American-serving organizations in the region, including those bordering the region. A system to consistently provide information and encourage participation through these groups should be established. This system should include both electronic and written communication for new and existing organizations. Where the MPO uses discretion in the type of information it releases, this should be done consistently for all organizations. In a continuing effort to encourage participation of the traditionally underserved, the MPO should introduce new contacts to the benefits/goals/objectives of outreach and advise existing contacts (Title VI/nondiscrimination organizations) periodically on how to "opt-in" for additional communications. In order to keep the contact data up-to-date in MassDOT's online outreach tool, the MPO should regularly update its outreach database and share this information with MassDOT.

Recommendation: With regard the composition of the Advisory Council, the MPO should carry out a targeted outreach effort that seeks representation from Title VI/nondiscrimination populations. We believe an effort that entails collaboration with key organizations that serve Title VI/nondiscrimination populations would most likely produce results.

Recommendation: For projects advanced by municipalities, the MPO should provide training and establish criteria and a process that ensures project proponents are meeting their fundamental obligations under Title VI. This process will further support the self-certifications made by the MPO in accordance with 23 CFR 450.334. The MPO is encouraged to seek assistance from the MassDOT Office of Civil Rights to identify an approach. To advance this work, we further recommend that this item be reviewed examined by an appropriate subcommittee of the proposed joint (MassDOT/FHWA/ MPO) Title VI Civil Rights Working Group before it is adopted.

Commendation: The MPO has recently improved its procedures in the area of physical and communications access to public forums. In addition to establishing separate line-items in the UPWP budget for Title VI/LEP and ADA related activities, the MPO has developed procedures within its handbook to ensure meeting locations are accessible and that auxiliary aids and services are readily available or obtained by request with reasonable notice.

LIMITED ENGLISH PROFICIENCY (LEP)

REGULATORY BASIS

EO 13166; U.S. DOT Policy Guidance Concerning Recipients' Responsibilities to Limited English Proficient (LEP) Persons, FTA C4702.1B, Chapter III, 9.; 23 CFR 450.316(a)(1)(iv)

OBSERVATIONS

The MPO has conducted a Four Factor Analysis and developed a Language Access Plan. In addition, the MPO has estimated its annual costs of delivering translation and interpretation services and has established a budget line item in its annual operating budget.

It was noted that the MPO's table of "Non-English Safe Harbor Languages in the Boston Region MPO" contained 24 LEP language groups; however, the MPO has committed to providing translations of vital documents for only the top three LEP language groups (Spanish, Chinese, and Portuguese). Unfortunately, the MPO's Four Factor Analysis does not sufficiently support this approach. For example, Factor 2 of the analysis states that the MPO "has infrequent and unpredictable contact with LEP individuals," yet the MPO provided no anecdotal evidence concerning contact, or the extent to which it should have contact with specific LEP groups. While the MPO mentions its most frequent avenues for contact and the venues where contact can be expected, there's no discussion about the major LEP-serving organizations or LEP groups that the MPO has targeted or should be targeting based on geographic areas of concern evidenced through studies and project locations in the MTP and TIP.

Regarding Factor 3, it would be helpful to offer a public perspective regarding the significance and benefits of participating in the planning process. As efforts to conduct targeted outreach continue, undoubtedly more LEP populations will enter planning discussions. Consequently, the MPO will have an ability to obtain direct feedback concerning the transportation planning issues or activities of greatest importance to these populations.

In short, the anecdotal or statistical evidence that indicates that the other 21 LEP groups are rarely encountered or served by the program is insufficient, so the MPO has not established a reasonable basis to limit its translation of vital documents into the top three (3) languages.

FINDINGS

Recommendation: The MPO should revisit its Four-factor analysis to determine whether or not sufficient evidence exists that provides a reasonable basis for translating vital documents into only the top three Non-English Safe Harbor Languages. Based on this review, the MPO should either revise its analysis or expand its translation of vital documents, as needed. If the MPO believes it has sufficient evidence to support translations into only the top three Safe Harbor languages, this evidence should be documented.

Recommendation: The MPO should examine the contacts in its Transportation Equity Outreach Database to ensure adequate representation of organizations serving the other 21 Non-English Safe Harbor Language groups. This analysis will support further outreach and increase the frequency of Page | 31

contact with these groups. Consequently, the resulting level of contact will help determine the extent to which document translations in the remaining 21 LEP languages should be made available. To advance this work, it is recommended that this item be reviewed by an appropriate subcommittee of the proposed (MassDOT/FHWA/MPO) Title VI Working Group before it is adopted.

PLANNING FOCUS AREAS

ENVIRONMENTAL MITIGATION

REGULATORY BASIS

The specific requirements for environmental mitigation are set forth in connection with the MTP in 23 CFR 450.322 (f)(7). However, the basis for addressing environmental mitigation is detailed in sections addressing consultation (23 CFR 450.316 and 23 CFR 450.322).

OBSERVATIONS

The MPO reviews multiple environmental factors to aid in the project selection process including Areas of Critical Environmental Concern (ACEC), Special Flood Hazard Areas (FEMA Q3 floodplains), Wetlands, Water Supply and Wellhead Protection Areas, Protected Open Space, Natural Heritage and Endangered Species Program Priority Habitats, Air Quality, and Brownfield and Superfund Sites. Additionally, the Metropolitan Transportation Plan (MTP) maps depicting the locations of these factors throughout the MPO area are overlaid with the locations of all recommended MTP projects to determine early on what environmental resources may be impacted by those projects.

As part of the MTP development process, the MPO holds Environmental Focus Group meetings. While these are mainly attended by air quality agencies, representatives from all Federal/state environmental resource agencies in the state are invited. These environmental resource agencies are also given the opportunity to review/comment on the MTP.

The MPO has also developed a Needs Assessment Application which is available to the public on the MPO website. The application is critical to the development of the MTP and allows users to see how the MPO's transportation system interacts with the environment by importing GIS mapping data layers from various state environmental agencies through the MassGIS website. Examples of available data layers include historic properties, protected recreational and open spaces, wetlands, etc. The MPO is a partner with MassGIS and receives updates whenever any data layers are updated, ensuring that the MPO always has the most up-to-date information.

The Review Team has concluded that the MPO has made a good effort to address the intent of the environmental mitigation regulation, through its MTP and Needs Assessment Tool.

FINDINGS

The transportation planning process in the Boston Region is consistent with the federal requirements for this topic area.

LIVABILITY AND SUSTAINABILITY

REGULATORY BASIS

Federal statute encourages land use-transportation linkages through the requirement that MPOs must coordinate transportation planning process with agencies responsible for "planned growth," resource management, and other planning activities in the region (23 CFR 450.316). Furthermore, metropolitan planning regulations (23 CFR 450.306) require that the scope of the transportation planning process include consideration of both "motorized and non-motorized users", and that planning must "Protect and enhance the environment, promote energy conservation, improve the quality of life, and promote consistency between transportation improvements and State and local planned growth and economic development patterns."

In addition, the Federal Partnership for Sustainable Communities (consisting of U.S. DOT, EPA, and HUD) has identified six "livability principles" to guide stakeholder agencies:

- Provide more transportation choices;
- Promote equitable, affordable housing;
- Enhance economic competitiveness;
- Support existing communities;
- Coordinate policies and leverage investment; and
- Value communities and neighborhoods

OBSERVATIONS

The Boston Region is at the center of a variety of livability and sustainability efforts at all levels: local, regional, institutional, and state.

At the MPO level, over the past several years, both MPO and MAPC staff have participated in livable community technical assistance workshops that are supported in the UPWP. In addition, sustainability and Livability principles are incorporated into the MTP through the plan's visions and policies, which include Livability, Environment, and Climate Change, among others. These same principles help guide projects programmed in the TIP via the project selection and evaluation criteria, which include Livability/Economic Benefit (29 of 164 possible points) and Climate/Environment (25 of 164 possible points) categories. Once the new MTP has been adopted, the TIP project selection criteria will be updated to align with the new vision statement and goals and objectives.

The State of Massachusetts is also spearheading ambitious efforts to address climate change. The Global Warming Solutions Act (GWSA), signed into law in August of 2008, created a framework for reducing GHG emissions. The GWSA sets a target of 25% reduction in GHG emissions by 2020

(relative to 1990 levels) and 80% by 2050. Implementation of the GWSA is outlined in the Massachusetts Clean Energy and Climate Plan for 2020, which outlines policies for reducing transportation GHG emissions. These policies include smart growth and sustainable land use planning to reduce VMT, as well as MassDOT's GreenDOT initiative.

GreenDOT defines sixteen sustainability goals aimed at reducing the environmental impact of the commonwealth's transportation system. These include three transportation policy and planning goals:

- Design a multi-modal transportation system;
- Promote healthy transportation and livable communities; and
- Triple bicycling, transit, and walking mode share.

Massachusetts MPOs, including the Boston Region MPO, will need to account for these policies and goals in their TIPs and MTPs. The Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) may be empowered to find these documents in non-concurrence if they don't contribute to GHG reduction. Regulations are being finalized at the time of this report, the comment period having closed in November, 2014. MPOs will also have to harmonize potentially conflicting goals, such as between increasing non-SOV mode-share and reducing automobile congestion.

In the context of these ambitious legislative and policy goals, the Boston Region MPO is currently working on an update to the region's MTP. The draft goals for the MTP set a bold vision for addressing climate change, identifying objectives for mode shift, VMT reduction, improved transit system performance, etc. However, the draft "universe of projects" contains only 18% (combined) transit, bicycle, and pedestrian improvements. Although this universe does not represent the final list of projects that will be identified in the MTP and program in subsequent TIPs, it does raise questions about possible misalignment between stated MTP goals and allocation of funds through the project selection process.

FINDINGS

The transportation planning process in the Boston Region is consistent with the federal requirements for this topic area.

PERFORMANCE-BASED PLANNING & PROGRAMMING

REGULATORY BASIS

Performance based planning and programming (PBPP) refers to the application of performance management within the planning and programming processes of transportation agencies to achieve desired performance outcomes for the multimodal transportation system. This includes a range of activities and products undertaken by a transportation agency together with other agencies, stakeholders, and the public as part of a 3C (cooperative, continuing, and comprehensive) process. It includes development of: metropolitan transportation plans (MTPs), other plans and processes (including those Federally-required, such as Strategic Highway Safety Plans, Asset Management Plans, the Congestion Management Process, Transit Agency Asset Management Plans, and Transit Page | 34

Agency Safety Plans, as well as others that are not required), and programming documents, including State and metropolitan Transportation Improvement Programs (STIPs and TIPs). PBPP attempts to ensure that transportation investment decisions are made—both in long-term planning and short-term programming of projects—based on their ability to meet established goals.

Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century (MAP-21) placed increased emphasis on performance management within the Federal-aid highway program and transit programs, and requires use of performance-based approaches in statewide, metropolitan, and non-metropolitan transportation planning. As the rulemaking process to implement PBPP is progressing in tandem with this particular certification review, this discussion topic is important to create awareness and help practitioners transition to these approaches in their own planning and programming activities.

OBSERVATIONS

The Boston Region MPO seems well poised for the transition to a performance based planning and programming approach over the next several years. The conversation with planning partners has begun and the staff is spearheading several efforts to mainstream a PBPP approach. They have drafted a PBPP framework as it might apply to the regional planning process. The staff discussed planning activities to develop the next 2040 MTP for the region which is intended to lay the groundwork for a performance based approach.

The MPO should continue to proactively pursue its good-faith efforts to implement performance-based planning in cooperation with MassDOT and other MPOs, despite the absence of a final rulemaking on the subject from FTA/FHWA. FTA and FHWA will work with the MPO upon passage of the final rulemaking to reconcile any discrepancies between the federal rule and MPO practices.

The staff described a scenario planning approach for the next MTP update which will examine two or three alternative investment strategies; this was conducted in winter of 2015 and the results informed MPO policy and decision making for the Plan. This type of analysis will assist the MPO staff in conducting similar analytical tasks when the PBPP requirements are final. Through the PBPP, staff will monitor progress toward meeting MPO goals for which performance targets have been set, and will track trends for other performance indicators.

The Review Team also noticed that in the latest TIP, Chapter 4 is entitled "Tracking and Demonstrating Progress Using Performance Measures." This information raises the profile of performance measures and informs stakeholders of actions underway and proposed to ensure the Region is ready for the future. The evolution towards a performance based planning and programming seems to be well underway. The Review Team encourages the Boston Region MPO staff to enhance these types of activities and continue a vigorous conversation on PBPP with MassDOT and the other MPOs in the State.

FINDINGS

The transportation planning process in the Boston Region is consistent with the federal requirements for this topic area.

MANAGEMENT AND OPERATIONS CONSIDERATIONS

REGULATORY BASIS

Federal statute 23 U.S.C. 134 (h)(1)(G) requires the metropolitan planning process to include the consideration of projects and strategies that will "promote efficient system management and operation." Furthermore, 23 U.S.C. 134(i)(2)(F) specifies that "Operational and management strategies to improve the performance of existing transportation facilities to relieve vehicular congestion and maximize the safety and mobility of people and goods" be included in the MTP.

Additionally, 23 CFR 450.322 and 324 require that the financial plan for the MTP and TIP include "system-level estimates of costs and revenue sources that are reasonably expected to be available to adequately operate and maintain Federal-aid highways and public transportation."

OBSERVATIONS

The consideration of management & operations is outlined by the goals and action items described in the MTP. The MPO has three goals for system management and operations: *System Preservation, Modernization, and Efficiency; Mobility; and Safety.* Each goal area is summarized by listing the specific MPO policies and short term action items to addressing each goal.

For the first goal, *System Preservation, Modernization, and Efficiency,* the MPO envisions reducing the dependency on automobile use and increasing mass transit ridership. They also intend to have a transportation system that is accessible to all users. The policies that support these goals include the use of ITS technology, maintaining assets in a state of good repair, and identifying funding strategies.

The section continues to describe the efforts made by its responsible agencies and the actions needed to achieve this goal. As an example for bridge maintenance, the section describes the relationship MassDOT and local municipalities have in evaluating and preserving bridge condition. Bridge evaluation criteria are described but it is unclear what the MPO's role is in prioritizing and maintaining bridges in the region. Greater effort should be placed on describing the MPO's role in influencing system condition.

To promote the mobility of people and goods, the MTP's *Mobility* goal supports user access to jobs, education, health services, and recreational activities. It also accommodates the consideration of freight mobility. Specific policies outlined include strengthening connections, improving frequency, supporting demand management, and addressing congestion. The MTP describes mobility for highways, transit, freight, and non-motorized transportation modes. The Congestion Management Process (CMP) is a tool used to develop recommendations for improving mobility. It provides the MPOs a set of strategies for improving traffic flows, including demand response, signal timing improvements, and HOV considerations. The MPO uses the CMP process for deciding both long term and short term transportation improvement projects. Freight bottleneck improvements are listed in the MTP as a result of the CMP and State Freight Plan.

Operational and management goals to promote safety are identified in the Safety and Security goal of the MTP. The MPO provides safety scoring criteria for selecting projects in the TIP. The MPO uses the Equivalent Property Damage Only (EPDO) index which identifies the most severe accidents in the region. Safety studies are conducted regularly through the Unified Planning Work Program. In general, the MPO partners with outside agencies to coordinate safety efforts such as MassDOT Strategic Highway Safety Plan, U.S. Dept. of Homeland Security for hazard response, and MBTA who have installed security surveillance improvements throughout their operations.

Financial planning for operations and management is presented in the MPO's MTP but not in their TIP. The MPO does a good job depicting the shortfall of revenue to properly operate and maintain the MBTA system through 2035, but a similar analysis is needed for the highway portion of the MTP. The MPO should work with the State and public transit providers in developing system level operation and maintenance estimates for all four years of the TIP.

The MPO concludes the MTP by describing several options on how operations and management efforts could be measured using performance measures. It should be noted that currently for the upcoming MTP update, the MPO has drafted proposed measures such as safety, congestion and system preservation. These efforts have been recognized and the metrics proposed will allow for sound operational and management considerations.

FINDINGS

Recommendation: Financial planning for management and operations should be presented in the TIP. An analysis depicting the shortfall of revenue to properly operate and maintain the highway system should be completed for the highways portion of the MTP.

FREIGHT PLANNING

REGULATORY BASIS

23 U.S.C. 134 (a) and 23 CFR 450.306(4), 450.316(a), 450.316(b), 450.104 - Metropolitan transportation planning section indicates that:

It is in the national interest to encourage and promote the safe and efficient management, operation, and development of surface transportation systems that will serve the mobility needs of people and freight and foster economic growth and development within and between States and urbanized areas, while minimizing transportation related fuel consumption and air pollution through metropolitan and Statewide transportation planning processes identified in this chapter; and encourage the continued improvement and evolution of the metropolitan and Statewide transportation planning processes by MPOs, State departments of transportation, and public transit operators as guided by the planning factors identified in subsection (h) and section 135(d).

OBSERVATIONS

The MPO has made significant strides toward integrating freight in the transportation planning process. Freight is represented on the MPO through MassPort (maritime and airport operations) membership on the MPO Policy Board, and through a freight subcommittee of the Regional Page | 37

Transportation Advisory Council. This group advises the MPO on freight-related matters and is made up of key stakeholders including the Massachusetts Motor Carrier Association.

The MPO addresses freight in all three of its planning certification documents: the UPWP, the TIP, and the MTP. The MPO has considered freight interests by developing freight-related project selection criteria in its UPWP, and has used the UPWP to fund areas of freight concern within the community such as truck accidents and access issues. The TIP's project selection criteria provide points to projects that improve or complete an MPO or State-identified freight movement issue, or which improve freight-related safety issues. Finally, the MTP includes several freight goals including reducing delays on the freight network, maintaining and modernizing the freight network, improving freight connections, and protecting freight assets from climate change.

The MPO is staying updated as new national performance measures are developed in 2015, and is gathering freight data to assess how transportation projects improve mobility and safety for trucks in the region. The MPO is exploring ways to obtain better freight data for the region. Federal guidance has encouraged MPOs to consider developing their own performance metrics in lieu of a final rule making being promulgated. Therefore the MPO is examining truck crash data and congestion management for the new MTP.

The MPO maintains an extensive mailing list of freight stakeholders to inform of upcoming freight issues. Senior staff with a focus on the topic have advanced freight planning efforts in the region. Datasets are maintained by staff and include crash data and vehicle classifications which feed into the travel demand model. The MPO has built close relationships with outside freight operators, including shippers. The MPO participated in the State Freight Plan committee during the last update in 2010.

The MPO recognizes the need to take action on freight. In 2013, the MPO released a memorandum entitled Proposed Freight Planning Action Plan for the MPO. This memorandum outlines five action plan goals to address the region's freight needs. A proactive approach which recognizes the MPO's own expertise gaps and challenges, this action plan will serve as a framework for enhanced freight planning in the region.

The MPO's work in freight meets the intent of the planning regulations; however, staff needs to be cognizant of any upcoming FHWA policy initiatives in this area.

FINDINGS

The transportation planning process in the Boston Region is consistent with the federal requirements for this topic area.

SAFETY

REGULATORY BASIS

49 U.S.C. 5303 requires MPOs to consider safety as one of the eight planning factors. As stated in 23 CFR 450.306, the metropolitan transportation planning process provides for consideration and

implementation of projects, strategies, and services that will increase the safety of the transportation system for motorized and non-motorized users.

OBSERVATIONS

Safety is considered throughout the MPO's planning processes including a safety goal in the MTP, safety elements in the TIP project evaluation criteria, and a range of UPWP planning activities and corridor studies. In particular, the TIP evaluation scoring methodology includes nine different elements for awarding points to projects under the Safety and Security category. This includes points that can be awarded to projects that address freight, bicycle, and pedestrian related safety issues, along with points for removing at-grade railroad crossings, addressing sites with high crash incidence, and others. Safety performance measures are also incorporated in the region's congestion management process (CMP).

The MPO also has substantial experience conducting and participating in road safety audits. The MPO conducted the Safe Access to Transit for Pedestrians and Bicyclists study in 2012 that evaluated four MBTA stations: Oak Grove, Braintree (Red Line), Morton Street, and Riverside (Green Line). Staff will continue this type of work this year in a study that will look at bike and pedestrian access at up to four stations on the Fairmount Line. A traditionally siloed approach to safety for roads and for transit has overlooked facilities that provide the transition between roadways and transit. This has meant that crosswalks and sidewalks in the vicinity of transit services have been underdeveloped in many places and constitute a substantial safety risk. The MPO, like many other agencies, continues to work towards ways to more systematically provide appropriate and safe infrastructure for bicyclists and pedestrians around transit facilities.

MassDOT led an update of the Massachusetts Strategic Highway Safety Plan (SHSP) that was completed in 2013. Of the 15 emphasis areas in the updated SHSP—each categorized as a strategic, proactive or emerging area—the MPO has identified six emphasis areas to focusing on: intersections, lane departures, bicycles, pedestrians, truck-involved crashes, and data systems. These were selected primarily because they seemed to be in the purview of the MPO (i.e. primarily infrastructure-related). MPO staff has actively participated in working groups for some of these emphasis areas and is also a member of the state's Traffic Records Coordinating Committee.

On the subject of data collection and quality, MPO staff described in the meeting the difficulties surrounding bicycle and pedestrian mode share and crash data. This data is not as universally collected as highway or transit data, and is less likely to be compatible with MPO or municipal databases. An example given was Framingham, whose database was described as being unequipped to account for bicycle or pedestrian crashes.

FINDINGS

Commendation: The MPO is commended for its ongoing support of safety as demonstrated through the region's goals and project prioritization process. The MPO conducts studies to identify and address safety issues, including pedestrian, bicycle, and freight related safety needs.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A: CERTIFICATION REVIEW AGENDA

Boston Region Metropolitan Planning Organization

Transportation Planning Certification Review

10 Park Plaza, Boston, MA December 10-12, 2014

Agenda

DAY 1: Wednesday, December 10th

8:45-9:00 Introductions & Opening Remarks

9:00-10:30 Metropolitan Planning Process and Key Documents

- Unified Planning Work Program (UPWP)
- Long-Range Transportation Plan (LRTP)

10:30-10:45 15-Minute Break

10:45-12:00 Metropolitan Planning Process and Key Documents (cont.)

- Congestion Management Process (CMP)
- Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) & Project Programming
 - o Connection to other planning documents (LRTP, Capital Investment Plan, Program for Mass Transportation)
 - o Project selection and prioritization processes (MPO Target Project selection, etc.)
 - Transit project programming procedures

12:00-1:00 Lunch Break

1:00-2:00 Metropolitan Planning Process and Key Documents (cont.)

2:00-2:30 Coordination and Consultation

- MPO Governance/Structure
 - o Evolution of MPO board structure
 - o Transit representation (MBTA, RTAs)

2:45-4:30 Coordination and Consultation (cont.)

- Intermodal Transportation Planning Coordination (transit, bicycles, pedestrians, highway, intercity bus, ferry, rail, airports, etc.)
- Freight Planning
- Interdisciplinary Consultation (Land Use, Housing, Environment, Economic Development, etc.)
- Regional Coordination (Adjacent Boston TMA MPOs in MA, NH, RI)

DAY 2: Thursday, December 11th

9:00-10:30 Civil Rights & Non-Discrimination

- Title VI & Limited English Proficiency
- Environmental Justice

10:30-10:45 15-Minute Break

10:30-12:00 MPO Public Participation Process and Outreach

- Periodic assessment of process effectiveness
- How public input informs the decision-making process

12:00-1:00 Lunch Break

1:00-2:30 Environmental and Climate Impacts of Transportation

- Air Quality and Congestion Mitigation
 - o State Implementation Plan Transit Commitments
- Climate Change Mitigation
 - o Implementation of GreenDOT/Mode Shift Goals
- Climate Change Adaptation & Resiliency Planning

2:45-4:00 Performance-Based Planning and MAP-21

- MPO Performance-Based Planning Activities
- Safety Planning
 - o Strategic Highway Safety Plan
 - o Follow-up to Bicycle/Pedestrian Safety Assessment

4:00-4:30 Wrap-up

Follow-up questions to Day 1 sessions

APPENDIX B: LIST OF ATTENDEES

Boston MPO Certification Review Public Meeting - January 15, 2015

Attendees

Name	Affiliation	E-mail
Nicolas Garcia	FTA	nicolas.garcia@dot.gov
Michael Chong	FHWA	michael.chong@dot.gov
Leah Sirmin	FHWA	<u>leah.sirmin@dot.gov</u>
Brandon Wilcox	FHWA	brandon.wilcox@dot.gov
Jared Fijalkowski	U.S. DOT Volpe Center	jared.fijalkowski@dot.gov
James Andrew	U.S. DOT Volpe Center	james.andrew@dot.gov
Mark Sanborn	Mass Bus Association	msanborn@concordcoachlines.com
James White	MBTA Access Advisory Committee	
Tom Kadzis	City of Boston	
Andy Compagna	Bike Ped Watertown	andy@compagna.net
Sheri Warrington	State Senator Thomas McGee	sheri.warrington@masenate.gov
Wade Blackman	Congresswoman Katherine Clark	wade.blackman@mail.house.gov
Essek Petrie	Resident	epetrie@hntb.com
Lucia Dolan	Resident	dolanlucia@gmail.com
Peggy Griffin	FTA – Civil Rights	margaret.griffin@dot.gov
Lee Auspitz	Resident	jlauspitz@comcast.net
Lynn Ahlgren	MetroWest Regional Transit	
	Authority	
Clinton Bench	MassDOT	
Bijan Afshartous	Lexington Town Meeting Member	biafshaz@gmail.com
Arthur Strang	Cambridge Resident	arthurstrang@msn.com
Brian Dechambeau	Cambridge Resident	
Janie Guion	MBTA Access Advisory Committee	aact@ctps.org
Karl Quackenbush	CTPS	kquackenbush@ctps.org
Robin Mannion	CTPS	rmannion@ctps.org

Elizabeth Moore	CTPS	emoore@ctps.org
Pam Wolfe	CTPS	pwolfe@ctps.org
Anne McGahan	CTPS	amcgahan@ctps.org
Alicia Wilson	CTPS	awilson@ctps.org
Natalie Raffol	CTPS	nraffol@ctps.org
Maureen Kelly	CTPS	mkelly@ctps.org
Sean Pfalzer	CTPS	spfalzer@ctps.org
David Fargen	CTPS	dfargen@ctps.org

APPENDIX C: PUBLIC COMMENTS

SUMMARY OF COMMENTS RECEIVED AT PUBLIC MEETING Prepared by the Volpe National Transportation Systems Center

Boston MPO Certification Review Public Comments

Summary of Public Comments

Name	Affiliation	Projects/ Issues	Comment
James White	AACT	Rail transit safety; MPO board representation	The MPO should address rail transit safety by encouraging or evaluating initiatives such as speed controls and automatic stopping to avoid crashes. The project to replace Orange Line cars should also fund track improvements that meet new safety standards. Disability advocates should be given more representation on the MPO Board.
Brian Dechambeau	Cambridge resident	Response to Community Concerns	Transportation funding sometimes goes to State projects that have community opposition, like rehabbing the McGrath overpass in Somerville instead of replacing it with an at-grade, bicycle- and pedestrian-friendly roadway. Concerned that the planners aren't as responsive to community concerns as they could be.
Arthur Strang	Cambridge resident	Congestion and performance monitoring	It seems like the definition of congestion is changing. Learned about how the MPO collects data to monitor the performance of the transportation system. Interested in the upcoming rulemaking on performance management.
Lee Auspitz	Resident	Federal regulations; Information provided by Federal agencies; Coordination in the use of geographic information	It can be difficult to understand Federal regulations, and some of them are not enforced. Specifically two issued by the Office of Management and Budget are not enforced: guidelines for maximizing the integrity of information issued by Federal agencies and recipients of Federal funds, and coordination on the use of geographic information, both of which impact the MPO planning process. Accurate and consistent mapping is critical in all transportation plans and projects. During a recent meeting, MPO staff presented maps that could be adapted to conform to the guidelines. The Federal regulations and guidance should be applied to the Boston MPO.

			Once people are informed about the regulations, they will participate in the process. Would like to see an annual audit of agencies on geographic coordination.
Anonymous	Cambridge resident	Difficult for members of the public to get involved in planning studies; Concerned about ethanol trains in heavily populated areas	The process for conducting studies and transportation planning has so many layers to it that it is exceedingly difficult for citizens and neighborhood organizations to understand how to go about making recommendations for change. There is a well-known chronic traffic problem in North Cambridge. Residents would like to be involved in a study to find solutions to the traffic problem. However, since Alewife Brook Parkway and Massachusetts Avenue are managed by so many jurisdictions with their own complex processes, it is difficult for citizens to become involved. The process needs to be clearer and more transparent to interested citizens. Ethanol trains are allowed to pass through very dense population centers such as Cambridge and Somerville. This is a highly dangerous situation and these trains should be routed to low population density areas.
Roger Wilson	Winchester resident	MPO plans lack vision; Mode shift is considered an end rather than a means; Support small bus service within I-95; Planning is not making progress in transportation	There is no vision what sort of transportation system we are trying to move toward and no sense of urgency about this critical factor for future economic growth. While we give lip service to mode shift etc., the real money seems to be spent haphazardly retrofitting our infrastructure to accommodate motorcar transport with little thought about the ultimate return on this investment. Mode shift seems to be regarded as an end in itself rather than a way to make transportation faster, cheaper and better for metro citizens and visitors.
			Given the constraints of our limited land area, and dense settlement patterns which, within I-95, predate motorcars, it seems imperative that we foster modern jitney (small bus) services on major arteries and modern car hire services to fill in gaps so that anybody within the I-95 ring can get from origin to destination quickly and cheaply without using a personal car. This should be an urgent set of programs and deployment of planning resources should reflect the urgency.

Matthew Danish	Boston resident	MPO should reconsider new HOV lanes; MPO should help Massachusetts achieve goal to triple nonmotorized transportation use; MPO has a vehicle-only worldview	The planning process in the region has not made progress in transportation. The Boston MPO discarded the idea of creating any HOV lanes out of existing lanes on the highway network because it would worsen congestion on the remaining general purpose lanes. It seems to be the case that only the movement of vehicles matters to the Boston MPO, rather than the movement of people. The MPO should be on the forefront of achieving the Commonwealth's published policy directives to triple the mode share of healthy transportation modes such as walking, biking and public transportation. The MPO should be designing models based on the most modern understanding of how land use and transportation work together, and models that take serious consideration of non-motorized transportation options. The MPO should not be publishing ideologically-motivated, fact-free "reports" against converting general purpose-lanes to HOV lanes. And the MPO should most certainly not be summarily dismissing such concepts based on what appears
			to be a set of 1960s-style assumptions that only the drivers of private, single-occupancy vehicles are important enough for consideration. The implications of this vehicle-only worldview at the MPO are stark: all efforts at improving public transportation may be compromised because the very purpose of public transportation is to move more people using fewer vehicles.
Ed Carr	MetroWest Regional Transit Authority	Transit representation on MPO board	The MetroWest Regional Transit Authority provides federally-funded public transit service within the Boston TMA, but currently has no representation on the Boston MPO board. MAP-21 requires representation by providers of public transportation on the MPO, and while the MBTA is represented on the MPO, MWRTA believes it is separate and unique with different needs of the large urban system managed by MBTA. The MWRTA would like to be considered for representation on the MPO board.
Paul Matthews and Jessica Strunkin	495/ MetroWest Partnership	Projects that cross MPO boundaries	There is a need for the Boston MPO to develop a policy for addressing projects that cross MPO boundaries, such as the Fitchburg Commuter Rail Line, 495/90 interchange and 495/Route 9 interchange. The Boston MPO,

			however, has not shared in the funding of the two interchanges, which affect the Boston MPO communities of Southborough and Hopkinton. The lack of coordination on funding these projects demonstrates the importance for developing a policy on formalized coordination across MPO boundaries. The Partnership would like guidance by FHWA and FTA on ways for the Boston MPO to work with MassDOT, the Central Massachusetts MPO and other MPO regions in Massachusetts about new and creative mechanisms for funding multi-jurisdictional projects. This approach is necessary to develop coordinated responses to regionally significant needs and to secure additional funding necessary to accelerate the scheduling of important multi-jurisdictional projects.
Peter Lowitt, FAICP	Devens Enterprise Commission, Fitchburg Line Working Group	Fund first mile/last mile initiatives to suburban employment centers	Commend the Boston MPO for its support of the Fitchburg Commuter Rail Line. In the future, consider placing a priority on funding first mile/last mile initiatives in suburban settings which can enhance reverse commute possibilities in suburban employment centers.
Joel Weber	Somerville	Various issues regarding decision-making and policy on MAP-21 goal areas	The Boston MPO should anticipate self-driving cars. The Boston MPO should work to establish 10 foot lanes as standard on non-freeway roads. Do not preserve the McGrath Highway overpass over Washington Street. Tesla will likely have fully autonomous cars in 5-6 years. The Boston MPO should consider this technology for MBTA buses. Do not expand automobile parking at transit stations. First look for ways to increase density of housing and businesses around transit stations, improving bicycling and walking options, and expanding bus and rail transit services to directly serve more locations. Improve the quality of existing bicycle parking. Why is MBTA buying new diesel powered buses? Worcester recently purchased zero emissions buses. There should be more transparency in these decisions.

			The Boston MPO should study the extent to which the law exempting affordable housing from zoning requirements encourages affordable housing to be located in areas where transit is viable. Providing users of wheelchairs the same access as others should be a top priority of the Boston MPO.
			The policy to "prioritize transportation investments that serve targeted development sites" should be reworded to clarify that transit service must be improved, not just simply extended to development sites to increase property values for developers.
Paul Mission	Southeastern Regional Planning & Economic Development District	SRPEDD values its coordination and communication with the Boston MPO staff	SRPEDD and the Boston MPO have a memorandum of understanding that improves communication between the agencies. Recent collaboration efforts have addressed regional transportation plans for South Coast Rail, I-95, and Route 24. It also aids coordination on the TIP. The agencies also share important data on socioeconomic forecasts, traffic data, economic growth, and highway network configurations. The agencies meet formally at least once a year and communicate continually.

WRITTEN COMMENTS RECEIVED



SOUTHEASTERN REGIONAL PLANNING & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 88 Broadway ◆ Taunton, MA 02780-2557

55 Broadway, Suite 920,

Cambridge, MA 02142

Mary Beth Mello, Regional Administrator

Carver December 9, 2014

Dartmouth Dighton

Fairhaven Pamela Stephenson, Division Administrator

Fall River 55 Broadway, 10th Floor Freetown

Lakeville Cambridge, MA 02142

Mansfield Marion

Mattapoisett Dear Ms. Stephenson and Ms. Mello:

Middleborough New Bedford N. Attleborough

Plainville Rehoboth

Rochester

The Southeastern Regional Planning and Economic Development District (SRPEDD) is providing the Norton following comments regarding the Federal Certification meeting for the Boston Metropolitan Planning Raynham Organization (MPO).

Seekonk SRPEDD has a long standing relationship with the Boston MPO through a Memorandum of Somerset Understanding that provides a continual, cooperative and coordinated planning effort. This has and Taunton continues to provide better communication with the Central Transportation Planning Staff (CTPS), the Westport technical support staff to the Boston MPO. Recent examples of this coordination include discussion of recommendations for our respective Regional Transportation Plans specifically with the South Coast Rail effort as well as the needed improvements for the Route 24 and I-95 highway corridors. This coordination also extends into the development of projects for the Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) for each region.

Furthermore, SRPEDD staff continues its efforts to coordinate with the Boston MPO regarding the exchange of vital transportation information and data for the development of the Travel Demand Forecasting Models. The exchange of data associated with socio economic forecasts, traffic data, potential economic development growth, and highway network configurations all assist with each region's model development and calibration efforts. This exchange is anticipated to continue and remain fluid considering each agency uses identical modeling software.

Although a formal meeting to discuss planning and project coordination occurs at least once a year, continual communication between the technical support staffs of SRPEDD and CTPS is ongoing through monthly meetings of the Transportation Managers Group in addition to the traditional lines of communication.

We look forward to the continued relationship with the Boston MPO and thank you for the opportunity to provide comment during this certification process.

Respectfully,

Stephen C. Smith **Executive Director**

Sten Chill

Garcia, Nicolas (FTA)

From: Matthew Danish <matthew.r.danish@gmail.com>

Sent: Wednesday, January 07, 2015 2:46 PM

To: Chong, Michael.A (FHWA); Garcia, Nicolas (FTA)

Subject: Comments on the Boston MPO

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the transportation planning process at the Boston MPO.

In recent years the Boston MPO has conducted an evaluation of car-pool and/or High-Occupancy-Vehicle lanes in the Boston region. See: "Screening Regional Express Highways for Possible Preferential Lane Implementation" [1].

Unfortunately, the memorandum quickly discarded the idea of creating HOV lanes out of existing lanes, quote:

It is sometimes suggested that an HOV lane could be implemented by converting a general-purpose lane for the exclusive use of HOVs. Since it is assumed that any preferential lane eligibility rules would result in fewer vehicles in the preferential lane than in the general-purpose lanes, the result would be a reduction in total expressway capacity. Reducing the capacity of a congested expressway would seriously worsen congestion and queuing within and leading to the capacity-reduced corridor, as well as on nearby surface roadways.

This paragraph, alone, illustrates an enormous flaw in the thinking at the MPO. In the understanding of most people, the ultimate purpose of transportation facilities is to move people, and not merely move vehicles around. So, a High-Occupancy-Vehicle lane is a concept that is designed to move more people using fewer vehicles. Therefore, the fact that a HOV lane results in lower vehicle counts is, in fact, a desirable and an explicit goal of that kind of facility. In contrast, to the Boston MPO, the fact that a HOV lane would "result in fewer vehicles" than the general-purpose lanes isn't desirable. And the author of this memorandum does not seem to understand his basic mistake, so he discarded the concept of converting general-purpose lanes without further review. It seems to be the case that according to the Boston MPO, only the movement of vehicles matter, not the movement of people.

The implications of that vehicle-only world-view at the MPO are stark: all efforts at improving public transportation may be compromised because the very purpose of public transportation is to move more people using fewer vehicles. So, if we have a MPO that cannot even accept the utility of HOV lanes, then it is no wonder that we have a great deal of difficulty installing bus lanes or other public transportation improvements anywhere in the Boston region.

The only thing that this HOV report showed is that the Boston MPO only seems to care about private, single-occupancy-vehicle flow, and all other policy goals are secondary to that. It's almost as if the Boston MPO is still living in the 1960s while the rest of us are living in 2015. According to this HOV report, the only way they considered creating HOV lanes is by widening highways. That's unacceptable, and has been unacceptable since Governor Sargent's administration. It is outrageous and embarrassing that the Boston MPO would write such a report any time in the last 40 years, and even worse, this one was written in December of 2012. For that to happen, there must be something very wrong at the Boston MPO.

I believe that this HOV report shows that there is a fundamental problem with the procedures at the Boston MPO. There is need of major reform. The MPO should be on the forefront of achieving the Commonwealth's published policy directives to triple the mode share of healthy transportation modes such as walking, biking and public transportation. The MPO should be designing models based on the most modern understanding of how

land use and transportation work together, and models that take serious consideration of non-motorized transportation options. The MPO should not be publishing ideologically-motivated, fact-free "reports" against converting general purpose-lanes to HOV lanes. And the MPO should most certainly not be summarily dismissing such concepts based on what appears to be a set of 1960s-style assumptions that only the drivers of private, single-occupancy vehicles are important enough for consideration.

It's long past time for the Boston MPO to pull itself out of the 1960s and join the rest of us in the year 2015, and I hope that the review by the FHWA and the FTA can aid in this effort.

Thank you, Matthew Danish 53 Ashford St, Boston, MA

[1] http://www.bostonmpo.org/Drupal/data/html/studies/other/screen_for_preferential_lane.html

January 13, 2015

Pamela Stephenson Division Administrator Federal Highway Administration 55 Broadway, 10th Floor, Cambridge, MA 02142

Mary Beth Mello Regional Administrator Federal Transit Authority 55 Broadway, Suite 920 Cambridge, MA 02142

RE: Boston Metropolitan Planning Organization's (MPO) Transportation Planning Process

Dear Ms. Stephenson and Ms. Mello:

On behalf of the 495/MetroWest Partnership, please accept the following as our official comments regarding the Boston Region MPO's transportation-planning process.

The 495/MetroWest Partnership is a non-profit regional economic development organization serving thirty-four communities, over half a million residents, and an employment base of approximately \$19 billion/year. The Partnership seeks to address regional needs through public-private collaboration by working to enhance economic vitality, improve quality of life and sustain natural resources. The Partnership focuses on helping to alleviate regional constraints and limitations, and conducts numerous initiatives on transportation, workforce housing, brownfields, and water resources.

The 495/MetroWest region has experienced significant growth over recent years which has resulted in opportunities and benefits, as well as presented a series of complex and conflicting transportation challenges. If ignored, these challenges threaten the quality of life and economic wellbeing of a region that has become an economic engine for the Commonwealth. Our regional transportation challenges affect the state's ability to remain economically competitive. These challenges include: increasing traffic congestion, an increase in vehicle miles traveled, highway capacity issues, gaps in public transit, and aging transportation infrastructure. Given, our transportation and transit needs, the Boston MPO's planning process is inextricably tied to our advocacy work on transportation infrastructure and as such, we have consistently provided detailed commentary on the TIP, UPWP, and LRTP.

The Partnership was formed, in part, to address large scale infrastructure needs in a region where MPO and other jurisdictional boundaries meet. Despite over 10 years of successful advocacy leading to some much needed projects in our region, we still see the need for the Boston Region MPO to develop a policy for addressing projects that cross MPO boundaries. To date, any reference made to major projects that include several communities in two or more MPO regions have been

included in a Plan section entitled, "Projects Included in Other MPO Areas". While we appreciate the endorsement of the Boston MPO for such projects, examples of which include the Fitchburg Commuter Rail Line (Montachusett MPO) and the Interchanges at I-495/I-90 and I-495/Route 9 (Central Massachusetts MPO), the lack of financial commitment to projects which include several Boston Region communities is problematic. We understand through our long-standing role on the Fitchburg Line Working Group that the funding for the Fitchburg Line project is unique in its combination of Small Starts, ARRA, and state funds and therefore, it may not be appropriate to include it in the Boston MPO's TIP or LRTP. However, it seems not only imperative but incumbent upon the Boston MPO to share in funding the Interchanges at I-495/I-90 and I-495/Route 9, considering that two of the three affected communities are actually in the Boston Region, namely, Southborough and Hopkinton.

We recognize that the Federal Highway and Federal Transit Administrations are interested in comments related to the planning process not on specific projects, but we feel these examples demonstrate the importance for developing a policy on formalized coordination across MPO boundaries. Additionally, we would highlight opportunities to address Last Mile needs by developing policies to fund Regional Transit Authorities' (RTA) cross boundary connections. Any guidance that can be offered by FHWA and FTA on ways for the Boston MPO to approach MassDOT, the Central Massachusetts MPO and other MPO regions in Massachusetts, about new and creative mechanisms for funding multi-jurisdictional projects would be greatly appreciated. This approach is necessary to develop coordinated responses to regionally significant needs and to secure the additional funding necessary to radically accelerate such projects' scheduling. The movement of people and goods pays no attention to the MPO boundaries, and we feel the planning process needs to take this into consideration.

We appreciate your consideration of our commentary on the Boston Region MPO's planning process.

Sincerely,

Paul F. Matthews Executive Director Jessica L. Strunkin Deputy Director

Garcia, Nicolas (FTA)

From: Jessica Strunkin < jessica@495partnership.org>

Sent: Tuesday, March 17, 2015 2:07 PM

To: Garcia, Nicolas (FTA)

Subject: RE: 495/MetroWest Partnership's Comments on the Boston MPO Transportation Planning

Process

Nick,

I hope you are doing well. I wanted to add one further note that I did not mention in the Partnership's letter from January, but it is something we have heard from various stakeholders. Namely, that the Boston MPO membership does not include an RTA seat representing suburban transit concerns. The Partnership feels that such a seat is warranted given the unique challenges faced by suburban communities relative to last mile and other transit needs. Thank you for your consideration and I hope your work reviewing the Boston MPO policies is going well.

Sincerely,

Jessica Strunkin
Deputy Director
495/MetroWest Partnership
200 Friberg Parkway, Suite 1003
Westborough, MA 01581
774-760-0495 x101



From: Nicolas.Garcia@dot.gov [mailto:Nicolas.Garcia@dot.gov]

Sent: Wednesday, January 14, 2015 12:53 PM **To:** Jessica Strunkin; Michael.Chong@dot.gov

Cc: Paul Matthews

Subject: RE: 495/MetroWest Partnership's Comments on the Boston MPO Transportation Planning Process

Jessica,

Thank you for your comments! I believe Central Mass MPO was last reviewed in 2013, so the next certification will likely not be until 2016 or 2017.

Best,

Nicolas Garcia Community Planner Federal Transit Administration 55 Broadway, Suite 920 Cambridge, MA 02142 617.494.3940

Garcia, Nicolas (FTA)

From: Joel N. Weber II <joel@joelweber.com>
Sent: Thursday, January 15, 2015 2:28 PM

To: Chong, Michael.A (FHWA); Garcia, Nicolas (FTA); amcgahan@ctps.org; ctps@ctps.org
Cc: patricia.jehlen@state.ma.us; denise.provost@state.ma.us; stephanie.pollack@state.ma.us;

tbent@bentelectric.com; Joel N. Weber II

Subject: Long Term Transportation Plan goals and process

Near the end of October 2014, the Boston MPO had a survey on its website asking about the goals for the long term planning process.

While I believe that most of the goals are on the right track, I wrote the following comments at the time, and it turns out that they didn't fit into the limit the web form had for the number of characters. I am only now getting around to putting these comments into email form to share with the Boston MPO, but I also want to express that I thought I had seen the Boston MPO claiming its public outreach process was ``extensive'', and so it seems like an oversight in the design of the web survey that my comments were apparently too extensive to fit.

The survey also asked people to prioritize several competing goals, and it seems to me that a simple ranking could be misleading, since the vast majority of the goals listed there are things that I think of as having equal, high importance. (Since the survey is no longer available in an obvious place in the website and I can't easily find any evidence that I ever took notes on which things I thought were less important, I can't easily give specifics on my thoughts on the priorities at this point.)

SAFETY

The Boston MPO should be thinking about whether Tesla's autopilot technology, if installed in all vehicles on the road, could end up being a more cost effective way to address some safety issues, possibly on a timescale faster than the Bost on MPO might be able to fund a more conventional approach.

http://www.citylab.com/design/2014/10/why-12-foot-traffic-lanes-are-disastrous-for-safety-and-must-be-replaced-now/381117/

suggest that a 10' lane width standard would be appropriate on non-freeway roads.

SYSTEM PRESERVATION

I do not want to see the overpass which carries McGrath Highway over Washington Street in Somerville continue to be preserved. I am extremely disappointed that the most recent round of temporary repairs happened at all, instead of simply tearing down the structure, which it seems to me would have been a better use of money.

CONGESTION REDUCTION

I think Elon Musk said that Tesla will likely have fully autonomous cars in about 5-6 years. The Boston MPO should be thinking about whether this technology could be adapted to MBTA buses, and whether doing so would allow for more frequent service on major routes at an affordable price.

TRANSPORTATION OPTIONS / HEALTHY MODES

I am generally not in favor of expanding automobile parking at transit stations. I would like to see expanding automobile parking at transit stations be a last resort, after first looking for ways to increase the density of housing and businesses around transit stations, improving bicycling and walking options, and expanding bus and rail transit services to directly serve more locations.

Improving the quality as well as the quantity of bicycle parking at transit stations is important. Bicyclists should be able to feel confident that their bicycle will not be stolen or vandalized while it is parked at a transit station.

GREENHOUSE GAS (GHG) / AIR POLUTION / ENVIRONMENT

Why in the world is the MBTA buying new diesel powered buses after Worcester took delivery of Proterra zero emissions buses? Proterra, BYD, and even New Flyer have options that look promising; we ought to have better transparency as to why these zero emissions buses are not being purchased.

TRANSPORTATION EQUITY

I don't think the Massachusetts law regarding affordable housing being exempt from municipal zoning requirements in its current form necessarily encourages affordable housing to be in a location where transit is viable, and I think a discussion of how to fix that would be appropriate. Perhaps an inventory of the extent to which this has or hasn't been a problem with past development would be appropriate.

Providing wheelchair users with the same level of access that others enjoy should be a priority.

ECONOMIC VITALITY / FREIGHT MOVEMENT

"Prioritize transportation investments that serve targeted development sites" leaves me wondering what it really means. It seems possible that it might mean "when developers lobby for expensive transit infrastructure that will be operated too slowly or infrequently to provide a usable transit experience, but nevertheless will help the real estate developers profit by directing tax dollars to make their particular property more valuable, the Boston MPO will help those developers", and I think that transit that is ultimately going to be useable and well used is what really matters, and I hope this goal can be reworded to clarify this point.

John S Allen wrote about a bicycle fatality at the intersection of Vassar St and Massachusetts Avenue in Cambridge, where a bulb out forced a tractor trailer making a right turn from a truck route to another truck route to cross the double yellow line. We should be looking at how to best avoid this sort of bad intersection geometry on truck routes.

Joel N. Weber II 225 Summer St #3 Somerville MA 02143

OMB DATA STANDARDS: A NEGLECTED REFERENCE POINT IN THE RECERTIFICATION PROCESS—Statement by Lee Auspitz, January 15, 2015

During the hearings conducted by this body in December CTPS professionals gave presentations that relied heavily on data standards covered under federal regulations and guidelines issued by the Office of Management and Budget (OMB)—see items I (1) and (2) in the attached reference sheet. These OMB data standards are designed to apply, as appropriate, to all agencies of the federal government, as well as to recipients of federal funds. They are not burdensome. They derive from simple commonsense rules like these: Collect data that is relevant and useful. Use maps that are consistent and fully coordinated with official maps. Use methods of statistical analysis that are reproducible. Do not falsify data. Assure the security and integrity of data as appropriate.

The most long-standing of these data standards, addressing geographical conformity in OMB Circular A-16, have contractual force for all federally funded projects. They are incorporated by reference in the Master Agreements of FTA and FHWA. Accurate and consistent mapping is an absolute essential in all transportation planning and projects-- from the mapping of physical contours to the designation of TAZ and environment justice districts right down to utility placements, property takings and archeological preservation.

Yet at no point in the proceedings did representatives of the certifying agencies refer to the OMB standards either for geography (I:1) or for data quality more generally (I:2). It would have been very easy to do so. For example, in an excellent presentation on long-term planning Ann McGahan of CTPS described how map overlays are used for presentational, analytic and planning purposes. It would be a simple matter to confirm that the maps used have been fully harmonized with each other and with federal mapping standards as required under OMB Circular A-16. To take another example, Karl Quackenbush, CTPS Executive Director, reported the venerable role of CTPS as having served for more than three decades as a staff resource for state transportation agencies. The Boston MPO would appear to be the national pioneer in maintaining a staff resource of this kind. Again, it would be a simple, straightforward and instructive matter to learn how CTPS implements OMB's published guidelines for data "quality, objectivity, utility and integrity" in its professional work.

During a meeting of the Boston MPO the FTA co-chair stated that regulatory compliance was the purpose of the recertification process. So why, exactly, are the federal regulations and guidelines on the data standards that are most central to the long-term planning work of CTPS not an explicit part of the process? And what concrete steps will be taken to correct this obvious error?

To give a start in the process of administrative self-correction I have provided two sets of document references. The first consists of government documents bearing on the data standards issue. They give two of the most pertinent OMB references, along with audit reports suggesting that FTA and DOT more generally can make improvements in the compliance field. The second set of references provides an example of successful administrative self-correction to assure geographical conformity in the largest current FTA capital project. It is worth noting that the self-corrections were achieved by conscientious professionals responding to the citizen participation process, as reported to you at the December 11 meeting, I'd be happy to review these two sets of documents briefly as time permits.

REFERENCE DOCUMENTS FOR COMPLIANCE WITH OMB DATA STANDARDS--FEDERAL RECERTIFICATION REVIEW

Presented by Lee Auspitz, January 15, 2015

I. FEDERAL REGULATIONS, GUIDELINES, REPORTS AND DOCUMENTS

- 1. "Office of Management and Budget: Guidelines for Ensuring and Maximizing the Quality, Objectivity, Utility, and Integrity of Information Disseminated by Federal Agencies." Federal Register, Vol. 67, No. 36, 22 February 2002, 8452-8460 http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/omb/fedreg/reproducible2.pdf
- **2. OMB Circular A-16 ("Coordination of Geographic Information....")** August 19, 2002 (Supplemental Guidance Nov. 10, 2010) . http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/circulars_a016_rev/
- 3. "Improvements Needed in FTA's Grant Oversight Program"

Office of Inspector General, Federal Transit Administration; Report Number: MH-2012-168, 2 August

2012. https://www.oig.dot.gov/sites/default/files/FTA%20Grant%20Oversight%20Program%20Report%5E8-2-12.pdf

- **4.** "Geospatial Information: OMB and Agencies Need to Make Coordination a Priority to Reduce Duplication," David A. Powner, Report to the Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs, U.S. Senate, GAO-13-94, November 2012. http://gao.gov/assets/660/650293.pdf
- **5.** "Geospatial Information: OMB and Agencies Can Reduce Duplication by Making Coordination a Priority," David. A. Powner (Director, Information Technology Management Issues) testimony before the Subcommittee on Energy and Mineral Resources, Committee on Natural Resources, House of Representatives, 5 December 2013. http://www.gao.gov/assets/660/659448.pdf

II. CASE STUDY: SELF-CORRECTION TO CONFORM TO OMB GEOGRAPHICAL DATA STANDARDS IN STIP, ENVIRONMENTAL CERTIFICATION AND SUBMISSIONS TO CONGRESS

A. STATE AGENCIES

1. Correspondence between John Roland Elliot and Paul Nutting (Information Technology Division—MassGIS) correcting non-conforming mislabeling in State Reference Map ("OLIVER") July 31, 2013 to August 21, 2013 http://glxgeography.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/10/J.R.-Elliot-P-Nutting-Email-Correspondence.pdf

- 2. Testimony by Josiah Lee Auspitz to the Massachusetts Planning Organization, June 26, 2014. http://glxgeography.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/MPOtestimony-June2614.corrected.pdf
- 3. Testimony by Rafael Mares, Conservation Law Foundation Counsel, to MPO July 10, 2014. http://glxgeography.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/Transcript-of-Mares-MPO-Comments-7-10-14-Edited.pdf
- **4. "Exhibit A: GLX's Process of Self-Correction to Align 'Medford Hillside' with the Federal-State-Local-University Standard"** Presentation with maps submitted to MPO, August 2014. http://glxgeography.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/Corrected-Exhibit-A-GLXs-Medford-Hillside-vs.-Standard-12.9.14.pdf
- 5. TIP Amendment Two: Boston Region MPO Transportation Improvement Program 2015-2018, see pages 11, 19 and 27 for proposed substitution of "College Avenue" for "Medford Hillside." http://www.ctps.org/Drupal/data/calendar/pdfs/2015/MPO 0108 TIP Proposed Draft Amendment Two.pdf
- 6. "Certificate of the Secretary of Energy and Environmental Affairs...," Maeve Vallely Bartlett, December 31, 2014. See page 15 for substitution of "Tufts University" for "Medford Hillside." EEA #15028. No link available.

B. SELF CORRECTION BY FTA

- 1. Joint Letter from Congressmen Michael E. Capuano (D-MA 7) and Thomas E. Petri (R-WI 6) to FTA Acting Administrator Therese McMillan, March 12, 2014 http://glxgeography.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/LTR_FTA-Geospatial-Data-and-Green-Line-03-12-2014-BW-4.pdf
- 2. Letter from Therese McMillan in Response to Congressmen Capuano and Petri, June 19, 2014. http://glxgeography.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/McMillian-Response-to-Congressional-Letter.pdf
- **3. FOIA Request to FTA, August 28, 2014.** http://glxgeography.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/FOIA-Request-to-FTA-8.29.14.pdf
- **4.** Response from FTA to FOIA Request of August 28, 2014. http://glxgeography.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/FTA-FOIA-Letter-Response-9.29.pdf
- 5. Notice from Therese W. McMillan of Intention to Execute Full Funding Grant Agreement with MBTA, December 1, 2014. See page 1 for excision of "Medford Hillside" and substitution of "College Avenue," superseding #B2 above. http://www.scribd.com/doc/248944379/FTA-Letter-Pledging-Nearly-1-Billion-For-MBTA-Green-Line-Extension

METROWEST REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY



Public Transportation System

37 Waverly Street, Framingham, MA 01702 Ph. (508) 935 2222 * Fax (508) 935 2225 * Toll Free (888)996 9782 * www.mwrta.com

January 15, 2015

Ms. Mary Beth Mello FTA Region 1 Administrator Kendall Square 55 Broadway, Suite 920 Cambridge, MA 02142

Dear Ms. Mello:

The Boston Metropolitan Planning Organization is currently undergoing a review of its policies and procedures to determine if they meet with Federal Transit Administration and Federal Highway Administration regulations. Part of this review is an evaluation of the membership of the MPO and a determination if the membership of the region appropriately represents the region's stakeholders and complies with federal regulations.

The Federal Highway Administration and the Federal Transit Administration have jointly issued policy guidance on the implementation of 23 USC 134(d)(2)(B) and 49 USC 5303 (d)(2)(B) as amended by sections 1201 and 20005 of MAP 21 Public Law 112-141, which requires representation by providers of public transportation in each MPO that serves an area designated as a TMA by October 1, 2014. A TMA is defined as an urbanized area with a population of over 200,000.

Current MPO membership includes the Massachusetts Bay Transportation Authority (MBTA) which is a transit provider in the MPO as well as a representative of the MBTA's Advisory Board. The MetroWest Regional Transit Authority (MWRTA) believes that as a separate and unique suburban transit operator in the region, its needs are different than those of a large urban system. Performance measures, budget and agency policies and priorities are quite different between the systems.

The MWRTA is a designated recipient of federal funds and provider of public transportation in the Boston TMA but we are not represented on the Boston MPO Board. MWRTA requests that the regulatory agencies consider this request in their review of the MPO and its membership.

Sincerely

∠Ed Carr Administrator

CC: Boston Metropolitan Planning Organization

Garcia, Nicolas (FTA)

From: Roger Wilson <rbwilsonjr@comcast.net>
Sent: Thursday, January 15, 2015 4:11 PM

To: Chong, Michael.A (FHWA)
Cc: Garcia, Nicolas (FTA)

Subject: Review of the Boston Region MPO

Categories: *TO PROCESS*

To: Pamela Stephenson, Division Administrator, FHWA Mary Beth Mello, Regional Administrator, FTA 55 Broadway, Suite 920 Cambridge, MA 02142

Dear Pamela and Mary Beth,

I am an active citizen and elected town meeting member who has participated in several MAPC meeting where the MPO's work was referenced. My perspective is outside looking in. My general impression of transportation planning in the metropolitan area is that there is **no vision** what sort of transportation system we are trying to move toward and **no sense of urgency** about this **critical factor for future economic growth**. While we give lip service to mode shift etc., the real money seems to be spent plodding along, haphazardly retrofitting our infrastructure to accommodate motorcar transport with little thought about the ultimate return on this investment. Mode shift seems to be regarded as an end in itself rather than a way to **make transportation faster**, **cheaper and better** for metro citizens and visitors. So on the ground, little is being done to foster mode shift.

Given the constraints of our limited land area, and dense settlement patterns which, within route I 95, predate motorcars, it seems imperative that we foster modern jitney (small bus) services on major arteries and modern car hire services to fill in gaps so that anybody within the I 95 ring can get from origin to destination quickly and cheaply without using a personal car. This should be an urgent set of programs and deployment of planning resources should reflect the urgency. While I don't understand how all the different parties are supposed work including the MPO, I can see by the very slow progress in transportation that the planning process is seriously amiss. Thank you for your attention. Sincerely,

Roger Wilson

81 Irving Street Winchester, MA 01890

(781) 721 2271

rbwilsonjr@comcast.net

Garcia, Nicolas (FTA)

From: Lowitt, Peter <peterlowitt@devensec.com>
Sent: Monday, January 12, 2015 11:26 AM

To: Chong, Michael.A (FHWA)
Cc: 'nicholas.garcia@dot.gov'

Subject: Boston Region Metropolitan Planning Organization

I am writing on behalf of the Fitchburg Line Working Group, a coalition of communities along the Fitchburg Commuter Rail Line and Route 2 stretching from Cambridge to Gardiner, Massachusetts. I would like to commend the Boston Region MPO for its support of improvements to the Fitchburg Commuter Rail Line over the past decade and encourage the MPO to consider placing a priority on funding first mile/last mile initiatives in suburban settings which can enhance reverse commute possibilities in suburban employment centers.

Respectfully,

Peter Lowitt, FAICP
Director Devens Enterprise Commission
Chair
Fitchburg Line Working Group

APPENDIX D: FEDERAL REVIEW TEAM

CONTACT INFORMATION

FHWA: Michael Chong | michael.chong@dot.gov

FTA: Nicolas Garcia | nicolas.garcia@dot.gov

REPORT PREPARED BY

- Noah Berger, FTA Region 1
- David Chandler, FHWA Massachusetts Division
- Michael Chong, FHWA Massachusetts Division
- Nicolas Garcia, FTA Region 1
- Leah Sirmin, FHWA Massachusetts Division
- Joanne Weinstock, FTA Region 1
- Brandon Wilcox, FHWA Massachusetts Division
- Kevin Wright, FHWA Massachusetts Division

ADDITIONAL ASSISTANCE FROM

- James Andrew, Volpe Center
- Brian Betlyon, FHWA Resource Center
- Jared Fijalkowski, Volpe Center
- Margaret Griffin, FTA Region 1
- Kristin Wood, FTA Region 1

APPENDIX E: MPO PLANNING DOCUMENTS & AGREEMENTS

In the electronic version of this document, the following are links to the MPO's planning documents and interagency agreements referenced in the above report.

- Metropolitan Long-Range Transportation Plan (MTP/LRTP)
 - o Current Long-Range Transportation Plan (LRTP): Paths to a Sustainable Region
 - o LRTP update currently underway: Charting Progress to 2040
- Transportation Improvement Program (TIP)
 - Project <u>selection procedures</u> and <u>criteria</u> See <u>additional information about TIP</u> <u>development</u>
 - o <u>List of obligated projects</u> from previous TIP year
- Public Participation Plan
- <u>Unified Planning Work Program (UPWP)</u>
- Interagency MOU/cooperative agreements
 - Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) Relating to the Comprehensive, Continuing and Cooperative Transportation Planning Process in the Boston Metropolitan Area, Approved by the Boston Region MPO July 7, 2011
 - <u>Fiduciary Agent Agreement</u> by and Between the Boston Region MPO and the Metropolitan Area Planning Council to Employ Staff and Provide Administrative Services for the Boston MPO
 - o The Commonwealth of Massachusetts Metropolitan Planning Organization MOU by and between Boston Region MPO, Merrimack Valley MPO, Northern Middlesex MPO, Old Colony MPO, Southeastern Massachusetts MPO concerning the Effect of the UZA Designations of the 2000 Census on Certification Requirements in the Metropolitan Planning Organizations
 - MOU between the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, the Boston Region MPO, and the Cape Ann Transportation Authority, and the MetroWest Regional Transit Authority
 - The Commonwealth of Massachusetts MOU by and between the Massachusetts
 Department of Environmental Protection, Massachusetts Executive Office of
 Transportation and Construction, Massachusetts Metropolitan Planning
 Organizations Covering the Conduct of Transportation-Air Quality Planning in the
 Development and Implementation of the State Implementation Plan
- Congestion Management Process (CMP)
- 2014 MPO Triennial Title VI Report and Appendices